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Honourable Chairman of the National Assembly,

Honourable People’s Representatives,
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Bank’s Semiannual Report for the period ending 30 June 2008.

Ivan Iskrov
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BIR Base interest rate
BIS Bank for International Settlements, Basle, Switzerland

BISERA System for servicing customer payments initiated for execution at a designated time
BNB Bulgarian National Bank

BORICA Banking Organization for Payments Initiated by Cards
BSE Bulgarian Stock Exchange
BTC Bulgarian Telecommunication Company

CEFTA Central European Free Trade Association
CIF Cost, Insurance, Freight
CM Council of Ministers

EBRD European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
EC European Commission

ECB European Central Bank
ECOFIN Economic and Financial Council

EFTA European Free Trade Association
EMU Economic and Monetary Union

ESCB European System of Central Banks
EU European Union

FLIRBs Front-loaded Interest Reduction Bonds
FOB Free on Board

GDDS General Data Dissemination System
GDP Gross Domestic Product
HICP Harmonized Index of Consumer Prices

IFO Institute of Economic Research, Germany
IMF International Monetary Fund
MF Ministry of Finance

MFIs Monetary financial institutions
NLO National labour office
NSI National Statistical Institute

OECD Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
OPEC Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries

RINGS Real-time Interbank Gross Settlement System
SBL State Budget Law
SDR Special Drawing Rights
TFP Transitional and Final Provisions
VAT Value Added Tax

ZUNK Bulgarian abbreviation of the Law on Settlement of Non-performing Credits Negotiated prior
to 31 December 1990 (LSNC)

Abbreviations
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The Bulgarian economy retained relatively high growth at 7.1 per cent during the first
half of 2008 amid a deteriorating external environment, growing inflation, and an interna-
tional financial market slump. Rises in the prices of major international commodities and
fuels contributed significantly to the increase in domestic inflation which reached 14.7 per
cent on an annual basis in June 2008.

Global financial uncertainty had a limited effect on Bulgarian markets during the first
half of 2008. It affected directly the capital market: over the half-year SOFIX and BG40
went down by 34.7 per cent and 40.8 per cent respectively; as a result, market capitali-
zation on the Bulgarian Stock Exchange, Sofia, fell to 31.1 per cent of GDP (down some
20 percentage points on the end of 2007). Interest rates on loans extended by domestic
banks started rising due to appreciating finance and tightening credit. Ongoing tension on
international financial markets and rapid economic cooling underway globally, posed risks
of moderating real GDP and revenue growth in Bulgaria.

Economic agents’ confidence and positive expectations of Bulgarian economic
prospects rested on the strong fundamentals of the macroeconomic policy conducted in
Bulgaria for more than a decade, characterized as it is by predictability, transparency,
and continuity. The currency board is a main principle of this policy; the Law on the Bul-
garian National Bank fixes the Bulgarian currency to  the euro and establishes a transpar-
ent money supply mechanism protecting the fixed rate. A ban on central bank financing
of the government and the public sector protects the economy from the speculative capi-
tal flows. The Bank’s conservative banking and payment system supervision policy is an
important bulwark of the structure and quality of banks’ balance of payments and payment
continuity. Prudent fiscal policies in line with the business cycle complement the currency
board and BNB policy.

An indicator of the sustainability of economic development is the high real growth of
domestically resourced investment, as well as foreign direct investment and external
loans. Preliminary data on the inflow of foreign direct investment (EUR 2.6 billion over the
first half of 2008) show that long-term investment interest in Bulgaria persists and that 66.2
per cent coverage of balance of payments current account and financial account deficit
has been provided. Foreign direct investment, together with the larger net external obliga-
tions of the corporate sector (EUR 1.5 billion) and deposits attracted from non-residents
by local banks (EUR 1.4 billion), formed a EUR 5.6 billion surplus in the balance of pay-
ments financial account. Reflecting domestic economic agents’ international current, capi-
tal, and financial transactions during the first half of 2008, BNB international reserves
picked up by EUR 1.3 billion and their market value reached EUR 13.3 billion by the end
of June.

The BNB acted based on comprehensive analyses of international trends and na-
tional economic development. Due to uncertainty and rising risk in gross international re-
serves management on international financial markets, the BNB retained its constraint on
the maximum duration of euro-denominated assets at up to 0.5 years and imposed new
operational restrictions. Income from international reserve investment over the first six
months of the current year came to EUR 199.84 million (a 1.65 per cent yield), reflecting
imposed constraints and the opportunities offered by international financial markets.

The 1 September 2007 increase in minimum required reserves from 8 to 12 per cent
was retained into the first half of the current year. This, coupled with appreciating financial
resource because of crises on world financial markets, engendered a curb in the growth
of lending since the start of 2008. Conservative supervision ensured the stability of bank-
ing indicators and sustained asset quality (by the end of June 2008 the share of classified
assets in gross assets came to 2.95 per cent). The Central Credit Register operated by the
BNB allowed the banks to receive accurate and timely information on their customers’

Sum
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debt to other banks, helping to preserve portfolio quality. Total specific provisions allo-
cated to cover impairment loss and credit risk exceeded non-performing exposures by
over 30 per cent, providing additional risk capacity in case of asset quality deterioration.
Banking profits during the first six months of 2008 were BGN 729 million. ROA came to
2.40 per cent (against 2.22 per cent in the respective period of the prior year).

During the review period the BNB continued improving its organization and effi-
ciency. In late April the Cash Services Company took over the handling and storing of
valuable cash packages. Since the new company is partly staffed by former BNB employ-
ees, the Governing Council reduced the establishment from 1007 to 963, with 845 actu-
ally on strength at the close of June 2008. Human resource management stresses staff
training and the boosting of staff ability to apply European standards and help modernize
the BNB.

The participation of the BNB Governor in ECB General Council sessions and that of
Bank representatives in ESCB committees and working groups involved the BNB fully in
the ESCB, contributing to the coordination of single monetary policy, drafting ECB legal
instruments, forming and developing monetary and banking infrastructure, payment and
settlement systems, improving statistical reporting, and other central banking issues.

Among the important events hosted by the central bank was the 125th session of the
Council for European Affairs at which the BNB shared its experience in establishing an
effective system for its ESCB, European Commission, EU Council committee and working
group participation.
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Economic Development in the First Half of 2008I.
1. The External Environment

The global economic climate continued to deteriorate in the first half of 2008. The US
sub-prime mortgage crisis and the lack of confidence on world financial markets which
characterized the second half of 2007 deepened. Losses at leading investment banks and
funds mounted over the first half of 2008. Significant raw material and commodity price
raises boosted inflation globally, slowing industrial growth and world trade. During the first
half of the year expectations as shown in business climate indicators at leading econo-
mies worsened, reflecting negative economic trends. Major indicators showed anticipa-
tions of further growth curbs in coming quarters.

Major Macroeconomic Indicators
(average annual change)

(%)

Growth        Inflation     Unemployment

2006 2007             2008 2006 2007             2008 2006 2007             2008
I quarter II quarter I quarter II quarter I quarter II quarter

EU (27) 3.1 2.9 2.3 1.6 2.3 2.4 3.5 3.9 8.2 7.1 6.8 6.8
Euro area (15) 2.9 2.6 2.1 1.4 2.2 2.1 3.4 3.6 8.3 7.4 7.2 7.3
Newly acceded
countries (9) 6.6 6.3 5.7 5.4 3.2 4.3 7.0 7.1 9.8 7.6 6.7 6.5
USA 2.8 2.0 2.5 2.2 3.2 2.9 4.1 4.4 4.6 5.2 4.9 5.3
Japan 2.4 2.1 1.2 1.0 0.2 0.1 1.0 1.4 4.1 3.8 3.9 4.0
China 11.1 11.4 11.7 11.5 1.5 4.8 8.0 7.8 4.1 4.0 : :

Note: Inflation in newly acceded countries has been computed by weighing harmonized indices of individual countries’ consumer
prices based on EU-27 countries weights in HICP.

Sources: Eurostat, Bureau of Labour Statistics, Bureau of Economic Analysis, Statistics Bureau of Japan, National Bureau
of Statistics of China, BNB computations.

Euro area GDP growth reached 1.4 per cent in the second quarter of 2008, pushed
down by a sizable drop in consumer spending and investment and a weaker net contribu-
tion by exports. The US economy reported 2.4 per cent GDP growth over the half year.
High inflation and the housing market crisis led to a dramatic consumer spending drop.
This was largely offset by a sizable net export increase, exports picking up from 8.4 per
cent in 2007 to 11.2 per cent in the second quarter this year. At the same time, the down-
ward trend in business and consumer confidence continued.

In the first half of 2008 global inflation continued growing, underpinned by rising
energy and food prices. Over the period average euro area monthly inflation was 3.5 per
cent (1.1 percentage points up on the second half of 2007), while US inflation was 4.3 per
cent (also 1.1 percentage points up on the last two quarters of 2007). Brent crude appre-
ciated dramatically during the second quarter to USD 130 per barrel in June. Oil prices
were driven by high demand from growing economies, delivery uncertainties, and rela-
tively low inventories in OECD countries. The substantial increases in food prices during
the second half of 2007 continued in early 2008, growing by 56 per cent on the first half
of 2007. Causes were demand by developing economies, export restrictions by major ex-
porters, continued demand for biofuel production, energy price rises directly hitting trans-
port costs, and higher artificial fertilizer prices. By mid-2008 the prices of some foods,
such as wheat, started to fall prompted by anticipated higher yields due to good weather.
Metal prices went up by 7.8 per cent during the first six months on the respective period
of 2007, ferrous and non-ferrous metals showing divergent dynamics. Iron ore prices went
up by 66 per cent, while non-ferrous metals tended to drop reflecting inventory rises and
expectations of higher supply.
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Attempting to curb the crisis and ensure banking system liquidity, on four occasions
in the first half-year the Federal Reserve cut federal funds’ interest by 225 basis points to
2 per cent. The Fed used its term auction facility very actively to boost liquidity: during the
second quarter, loans grew from USD 25 billion to come to USD 75 billion. The ECB kept
interest on its main refinancing operations at 4.0 per cent. The ECB position was entirely
anti-inflationary, prompted by growing threats to price stability from the secondary pres-
sures of food and fuel price raises. There was no need to raise interest on ECB refinanc-
ing operations since market rates rose due to increasing risk premium.

Sources: ECB, Federal Reserve System.

Key Federal Reserve System and ECB Interest Rates
(%)

Sources: Dow Jones, NASDAQ, STOXX.

Major Stock Exchange Indices
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During the first half of 2008, US stock market indices dropped, with the DJIA, S&P

500, and NASDAQ falling by 13, 11.6, and 12.1 per cent respectively. Indices were hit by
concerns of a growth slowdown and negative expectations of financial sector prospects.
Fluctuating oil and major commodity prices also hit markets. Financial sector prices fell
most dramatically (by -29.1 per cent). Market uncertainty deepened in mid-March when
credit risk premia reported a high since the start of the crisis due to fears about the Bear
Stearns investment bank. Markets experienced relief following the takeover of that
troubled bank by JP Morgan and the unprecedented actions of the Federal Reserve. The
ensuing revaluation of several banks’ exposures, however, further increased credit risk. As
a result, premia on banks’ time deposits remained high. Energy sector securities reported
the highest rise over the January to June 2008 period, underpinned by oil price rises on
international markets. The five-year credit risk premium on investment rating companies
reached 146 basis points from 68 basis points at the year’s start.

US market turbulence spilled over into European stock markets. By the end of June
indices fell, the DJ Euro STOXX 50 and DJ STOXX 600 by 22.7 per cent and 19.6 per cent
respectively. Bank securities suffered the heaviest losses (-32 per cent). The Bear Stearns
buyout and US liquidity programmes stabilized markets and decreased banks’ credit risk.
By contrast, money market short-term financing premia remained high. Substantial losses
at key institutions made market indices return to negative values. Banks’ insolvency risk
credit premia had risen by 50 to 70 basis points at the close of the review period.

2. The Bulgarian Economy

Unfavourable world trends in the first half of 2008 bypassed the Bulgarian economy.
GDP growth accelerated to 7.1 per cent on the first six months of 2007. The 2007 trend to
a prevalence of investment into fixed capital in the structure of growth by final use (6.5
percentage points) continued. In investment by sector, the largest share of spending on
fixed assets was that of manufacturing (20 per cent). Intensive investing contributed to the
renovation and expansion of industrial capacity, boosting competitiveness. Investment
into retail, construction, estates, and energy grew dynamically, reflecting brisk develop-
ment.

Source: NSI.

Structure of Expenditure on Acquisition of Fixed Assets by Economic Activity
during the First Half of 2008
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Over the review period final consumption growth accelerated slightly on the second
half of 2007 to 4.7 per cent. Between January and June 2008 government spending con-
tributed negatively to consumption growth, posting a real drop as a result of conservative
fiscal policy amid growing inflation and rapidly rising nominal pay.

While household spending rose more than in the second half of 2007, it retained its
moderate growth of 6.0 per cent: 6.5 per cent over the first quarter and 5.4 per cent over
the second quarter. Consumption of non-foods and tourist services registered the most
dynamic growth. If the contribution of net tourism to household consumption growth were
excluded, domestic consumption went up 4.2 per cent in the first half of 2008 on the cor-
responding period of the prior year. Consumer demand was driven by growing household
disposable incomes owing mainly to growing employment and wage rises. On the other
hand, accelerating inflation from mid-2007 and the first six months of the current year cast
a pall among consumers, affecting their financial expectations and restricting consumer
spending.

Value added in the economy rose robustly at 7.1 per cent on the respective period
of the previous year. Factors behind this growth were buoyant manufacturing, energy and
construction and brisk growth in financial intermediacy and retail. Following a dramatic
drop in 2007, in the second quarter of 2008 the index of agricultural value added physi-
cal volume posted an increase of 12 per cent on an annual basis, contributing 0.8 per-
centage points to value added.

The labour force survey showed that in the first half of 2008 employment rose by 4.3
per cent on an annual basis, while unemployment fell to 6.1 per cent. Labour supply con-
tinued to improve and the economic activity ratio of people aged 15 to 64 reached 67.9
per cent in the second quarter of 2008 against 66.1 per cent in the respective period of

Real GDP Growth by Final Use Constituents
(%)

2007                                 2008
January–June July–December  January–June

GDP 6.5 5.9 7.1
Household consumption 6.9 3.9 6.0
Government consumer expenditure -1.1 5.9 0.8
Collective consumption -0.9 6.7 -2.5
Gross fixed capital formation 29.5 16.5 22.7
Exports of goods and services 4.6 5.7 6.9
Imports of goods and services 12.8 7.4 9.9

Source: NSI.

Source: NSI.

Contribution of Final Use Constituents to GDP Growth
(%, percentage points, on corresponding period of previous year)
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Gross Value Added Real Growth
(%)

2007                                 2008
January–June July–December  January–June

Agriculture and forestry -4.2 -41.7 6.5
Industry 11.5 16.2 7.4
Services 5.9 8.7 7.0

Total (base prices) 7.1 5.7 7.1

Source: NSI.

In the first six months of 2008 wages continued rising rapidly, by 24.3 per cent nomi-
nally or 9.8 per cent in real terms on the same period of the prior year. Wage dynamics
since early year also reflected statutory changes: the raise in minimum monthly pay from
BGN 180 to BGN 220, the effects of the 3 percentage point decrease in social contribu-
tions in October 2007 and the launch of 10 per cent flat rated income tax.

Strong investment and technology upgrades boosted labour productivity by 2.9 per
cent in real terms, including 5.1 per cent in manufacturing and 6.8 per cent in energy in
the first half of 2008 on the respective period of 2007. Financial intermediacy reported the
highest productivity growth at 19.6 per cent.

Compared with the corresponding period of 2007, between January and June 2008
unit labour costs went up by 17.3 per cent and 4.3 per cent in nominal and real terms,
wages growing faster than productivity. Given the relatively low share of labour costs in
value added and companies’ financial health, wages rose parallel to sustained compara-
tively high profit levels.

The inflationary trend underpinned by considerable rises in international food and
fuel prices and the dramatic decline in Bulgarian agricultural output in mid-2007 contin-
ued during the first half of the current year, inflation reaching a high of 14.7 per cent on
an annual basis in June1. Beside the increase in expenditure on raw materials, energy and
transportation, growing unit labour costs also exerted an upward pressure on goods and
service prices due to the bigger share of labour in total costs, more pronounced in ser-
vices. Administratively set urban transport, hospital and legal service prices rose by 22.1
per cent, 22.2 per cent and 48.3 per cent respectively during the first half of 2008, while
tobacco appreciated by 13 per cent due to an excise duty rise.

During the first half of 2008 food prices went up to 23 per cent on an annual basis.
Food inflation was driven by short supply due to the dramatic fall in agricultural output in
2007, the increase in fuel and transportation costs and by continuing world food price
rises. World crude oil rises, particularly pronounced in the second quarter of the current
year, spilled over into domestic fuel prices. Since the year’s start transportation fuels ap-
preciated by some 17 per cent, with January excise duty raises (8 per cent for unleaded
petrol and 12 per cent for diesel oil) having a major contribution2. This hit transportation
prices, which in turn exerted an upward pressure on the prices of all goods and services.

Rapid increases in international oil and food prices and heightened uncertainty on
international financial markets affected global growth, in particular hitting the euro area.
Moderating demand on the part of Bulgaria’s main trade partners was the major reason for
lower real growth in local goods and non-factor service exports during the second quar-
ter of the present year (5.1 per cent) compared with the first three months (9.2 per cent).

1 A trend towards a slowdown in inflation has been observed since July 2008, its annual rate falling to 11.4 per cent in Sep-
tember.

2 For more details and an analysis of economic processes in Bulgaria see the BNB Economic Review quarterly.

2007. Such developments were prompted by the creation of new jobs and pay raises that
made working more attractive to economically inactive people. In early 2008 private sec-
tor employment continued growing alongside falling public sector employment. Conserva-
tive employment and wage policies in the budget sector may have led to a drift to the pri-
vate sector, given skilled labour shortages.
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The physical volume of goods exports over the first half of 2008 grew relatively healthily
(9.3 per cent) on the corresponding period of the prior year, while service exports
dropped in real terms by 0.5 per cent3. Strong investment into Bulgaria kept imports buoy-
ant; the real growth in goods and non-factor service imports for the first half year came to
9.9 per cent (goods and services being roughly even). The contribution of net exports to
economic growth decreased in the second quarter of 2008 to -8.6 percentage points
against the positive contribution of 0.5 percentage points in the first quarter.

3 Despite the growth in earnings from exports of services (13.9 per cent) a higher price change was reported in compari-
son with the first half of 2007 (14.4 per cent).

4 Data on the balance of payments for the January to June 2008 period are preliminary and subject to further revisions.

Sources: NSI, BNB.

Inflation on an Annual Basis and Major Commodity Groups and Services
(percentage points, %)

HICP Inflation Accumulated since Year’s Start*

January – June

2007 2008

Inflation (%) 2.8 5.7

Contribution (percentage points)
Services 0.96 1.91
Public catering 0.49 0.76
Transportation services 0.12 0.70
Services, excl. catering services and transport 0.36 0.45
Energy products 0.83 1.38
Transportation fuels 0.83 1.28
Foods 0.28 0.83
Processed foods 0.68 0.81
Unprocessed foods -0.40 0.02
Goods and services with administratively set prices 0.57 0.72
Tobacco products -0.25 0.43
Industrial goods 0.36 0.38

* This structure corresponds to the Eurostat classification used to present in a comparable manner the major components of HICP for
euro area and EU countries. These components include: processed foods (incl. alcohol and tobacco products), unprocessed foods
(meat; fish and seafood; fruits; vegetables), energy products (electricity; solid, liquid and gaseous fuels for households; heating;
fuels and lubricants for personal transportation vehicles), non-energy industrial goods and services (incl. catering services). With the
purpose of distinguishing the effects of goods and services with administratively set prices and goods whose prices largely depend
on changes in excise rates (tobacco products), their prices are excluded from the major HICP groups under Eurostat.

Sources: NSI, BNB.

Nominal goods exports earnings during the first six months of 2008 rose by EUR 1.5
billion (23.9 per cent), while spending on goods imports rose by EUR 2.6 billion (27.8 per
cent)4. The major contributors to export growth were base metals and their products (6.5
percentage points), mineral products and fuels (6.5 percentage points) and machines,
vehicles and appliances (5.5 percentage points.). Energy resources and investment
goods played the major role in import growth (9.6 and 7.2 percentage points respectively).
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The deterioration of the balance of trade deficit (up by EUR 1.1 billion on the first half
of 2007 to EUR 4.3 billion) was the main reason for the rise in the balance of payments
current account and capital account deficit by EUR 1.16 billion to EUR 3.9 billion. Higher
world prices of energy resources5, agricultural products, and foods were another factor
behind the worsening of this deficit. Preliminary data on foreign direct investment (EUR 2.6
billion in the first half of 2008) indicate a sustained long-term investment interest in Bul-
garia. Foreign direct investment provided 66.2 per cent coverage of the balance of pay-
ments current account and capital account deficits6. Coupled with the increased net ex-
ternal obligations of the private non-bank sector (EUR 1.5 billion) and non-resident banks’
deposits with local banks (EUR 1.4 billion), FDI formed a balance of payments’ financial
account surplus of EUR 5.6 billion. The growth of funds borrowed from abroad indicates
confidence in the Bulgarian economy and access to international financial markets by lo-
cal business amid global financial uncertainty. Because of local economic agents’ inter-
national current, capital, and financial transactions, in the first half of 2008 BNB gross in-
ternational reserves rose by EUR 1.27 billion without taking into account valuation adjust-
ments.

Bulgaria’s gross external debt went up by EUR 3.8 billion between January and June
2008 to EUR 31.9 billion (101.4 per cent of GDP on an annual basis). During the first half
of 2008 public and publicly guaranteed debt decreased by EUR 155 million mainly as a
result of an advance debt repayment to the World Bank. Private non-guaranteed external
debt grew by a total of EUR 3.9 billion in the first half-year, with banks’ debt increasing by
EUR 2.1 billion.

The accumulated cash surplus on the consolidated fiscal programme came to
BGN 3777.5 million by end-June 2008 or 5.7 per cent of the expected GDP for the year,
while the primary balance was BGN 4138.2 million or 6.2 per cent of projected GDP7. Un-
derpinned by rapidly growing income and employment, total revenue and grants went up
by 24.7 per cent on the same period of the previous year, coming to BGN 14,029.5 mil-
lion. Concurrently, expenditure on the consolidated fiscal programme over the first six
months of 2008 amounted to BGN 10,251.9 million: a growth of 12.7 per cent. The fiscal
reserve increased by 37.2 per cent to BGN 10,223.5 million over the first six months of
2008.

Over the review period monetary aggregates continued growing healthily, driven by
buoyant trading and foreign investment. Broad money reported an annual growth rate of
24.4 per cent in June. By the close of the first half-year the М1 monetary aggregate rose
by 14.2 per cent on an annual basis, while currency outside banks went up by 15.2 per
cent and overnight deposits by 13.5 per cent on June 2007. Quasi-money grew by 34.7
per cent by the end of June 2008, while deposits with agreed maturities of up to two years
and of deposits redeemable at notice of up to three months grew by 34.1 per cent and
37.3 per cent respectively.

Between January and June 2008 lending remained high, with claims on the non-gov-
ernment sector picking up by BGN 7595.9 million (against BGN 6607.7 million over the
respective period of 2007). Though the favourable domestic environment and high corpo-
rate and household credit demand created further conditions for strong credit growth, the
annual rate of claims on the non-government sector began to fall gradually in view of the
high base and rising lending rates, reaching 52 per cent in June from 62.5 per cent at the
close of the previous year8. Within the six-month period claims on corporates grew by
BGN 4861.1 million, annual growth coming to 53.3 per cent by the end of June. Claims on

Econom
ic D

evelopm
ent in the First H

alf of 2008

5 During the first six months of 2008 the average price of crude oil imported into Bulgaria rose by 74.5 per cent on the re-
spective period last year. The change in the prices of crude oil, oil products and natural gas in the first half-year resulted
in an increase in the current account deficit by EUR 361.2 million.

6 Data on foreign direct investment are revised periodically upon incremental corporate information. Recent years have wit-
nessed systematic upward revisions of original data; therefore comparing original 2008 data with early 2007 data would
give false indications.

7 Estimated GDP for 2008 is BGN 66,541 million.
8 The downward trend in lending growth to the non-government sector continued in the second half of the current year;

annual growth slowing to 48.3 per cent in August.
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Monetary Aggregates
(annual growth)

(%)

Source: BNB.

households rose by BGN 2502.5 million over the period, an annual growth of 49 per cent.
Net foreign asset decreases provided essential fuel to credit. Between January and

June banks’ foreign assets dropped by BGN 582.2 million, while funds attracted from non-
residents rose by BGN 4368 million. As a result, net foreign assets declined by
BGN 4950.2 million to BGN -9162.3 million. The other major source of lending finance –
household and corporate deposits – grew by BGN 1640.8 million.

In the first half-year the number of interbank money market transactions grew by
53.4 per cent on the same period of the previous year. Deposits comprised 80.1 per cent
of turnover, with repos at 15.9 per cent, and outright government securities transactions
4 per cent. The average interbank interest rate on deposits and repos came to 4.91 per
cent, while its average monthly rate grew gradually from 4.75 per cent in January to 5.07

Claims on Non-government Sector
(annual change)

(%)

Source: BNB.
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9 Turnover comprises BNB and banks’ foreign currency transactions against levs with a spot value date of up to two busi-
ness days and includes double the amount of BNB trade with banks and double the amount of trade between banks.

Econom
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alf of 2008
Average Interest Rate on Interbank Money Market

(%)

Source: BNB.

per cent in June 2008 reflecting strong demand for levs by individual banks.
Total foreign currency market turnover came to EUR 252.2 billion in the first half of

2008: more than three times that of the corresponding period last year9. The increase was
mainly due to foreign currency trading between the BNB and banks. At the same time,
during the first half of 2008 interbank money market turnover doubled on the respective
period of 2007, comprising EUR 634.7 million.

The BGN-denominated issues of the Ministry of Finance included three-month dis-
count treasury bills and five- and ten-year fixed rate treasury bonds. Good budget perfor-
mance and low financing demand cut the amounts of government securities compared
with the first six months of 2007. Issues of three-month discount government securities
were less frequent (two in the half-year against three in the first six months of 2007), while
the total nominal value of the amount offered by the Ministry of Finance fell to BGN 30 mil-
lion. The supply of five-year government securities fell by 27.8 per cent to BGN 65 million,
while that of ten-year ones fell by 12.5 per cent to BGN 105 million. As a result, the amount
of BGN-denominated government securities fell by 42.1 per cent on the first six months of
2007. Demand continued to exceed supply, the average bid-to-cover ratio being 2.49.

Outright transactions in domestic government securities between banks (including
investment intermediaries approved as primary dealers) in the secondary government se-
curities market totaled BGN 2292.1 million (more than twice the amount in the first half of
2007). BGN-denominated bond turnover went up 2.6 times to BGN 2276.1 million. EUR-
and USD-denominated bond turnover posted a dramatic fall of traded volumes to
BGN 16.0 million against BGN 110.6 million in the first six months of 2007.

By the end of the review period EUR-denominated global bonds maturing in 2013
were quoted at 107 per cent of nominal value and USD-denominated global bonds matur-
ing in 2015 at 115 per cent. The price of USD-denominated bonds under ZUNK hovered
around their nominal value.

Capital market trading was hit by the world financial market crisis. Between January
and June the SOFIX and BG40 indices dropped by 34.7 per cent and 40.8 per cent re-
spectively. During the first half of the year the turnover of shares on the secondary market
decreased to BGN 1127.8 million (less than half the figure of the same period of 2007),
while the turnover of bonds on the stock exchange comprised BGN 133 million (down 23
per cent on the first half of 2007). By mid-year Bulgarian Stock Exchange market capitali-
zation came to BGN 19,133.1 million or 31.1 per cent of GDP (down by some 20 percent-
age points on the close of 2007).
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Gross International Reserves and Banking Department Deposit
(million EUR)

Source: BNB.

Gross International Foreign Exchange ReservesII.
Gross international reserve management is governed by the Law on the Bulgarian

National Bank and makes use of international financial market opportunities10. BNB gross
international reserves comprise the assets on the Issue Department’s balance sheet, and
their role is to provide complete cover for monetary liabilities under the fixed lev euro ex-
change rate11. The excess of gross international reserves over monetary liabilities forms
the Banking Department Deposit item or the net value in the Issue Department’s balance
sheet12.

1. The Amount and Structure of Gross International
Reserves

By the end of the first half-year the market value of gross international reserves came
to EUR 13,282.48 million, an increase of EUR 1345.84 million or 11.27 per cent on the end
of 2007. This growth was mainly due to net purchases of EUR 1209 million of reserve cur-
rency from banks plus some EUR 103 million in banks’ minimum required reserves.

10 The period under review saw no Law on the BNB amendments concerning the regulatory framework for gross interna-
tional reserve management.

11 In accordance with Article 28, paragraph 2 of the Law on the BNB ‘monetary liabilities of the Bulgarian National Bank shall
consist of all banknotes and coins in circulation issued by the Bulgarian National Bank and any balances on accounts
held by other parties with the BNB, with the exception of the accounts held by the IMF.
Article 28, paragraph 3 of the Law on the BNB comprehensively lists assets which may comprise gross international re-
serves: monetary gold; Special Drawing Rights; banknotes and coins in freely convertible foreign currency; funds in freely
convertible foreign currency held by the BNB on accounts with foreign central banks or other foreign financial institutions
or international organizations  with one of the two highest ratings by two internationally recognized credit rating agencies;
BNB debt instruments issued by foreign countries, central banks, other foreign financial institutions, or international finan-
cial organizations assigned one of the two highest ratings by two internationally recognized credit rating agencies; the
balance on accounts receivable and payable on BNB forward or repo agreements with (or guaranteed by) foreign cen-
tral banks, public international financial organizations with one of the two highest ratings from two internationally recog-
nized credit agencies; and BNB futures and options which bind non-residents and which are payable in freely convert-
ible foreign currency. The Law stipulates that these assets are estimated at market value.

12 According to Article 28, paragraph 1 of the Law on the BNB, ‘the aggregate amount of monetary liabilities of the Bulgar-
ian National Bank shall not exceed the lev equivalent of gross international reserves,’ with the lev equivalent determined
on the basis of the fixed exchange rate.
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Structure of Gross International Reserves by Financial Instrument
(%)

Instruments 2007 January – June 2008

Vault cash* 11.18 6.00
Deposits** 12.87 11.47
Securities 73.32 80.03
Gold in the vault 2.63 2.50

*  Financial instruments with a maturity of up to three days, including all overnight deposits.
** Including instruments in foreign currency and gold.
Note: Average data for the period.

Source: BNB.

Currency Structure of International Reserves
(%)

Issue Department balance sheet assets
Currency

2007 January – June 2008

Euro 92.77 93.32
US dollars 0.27 0.12
Gold 6.56 6.23
Special Drawing Rights 0.39 0.31
Swiss franks 0.01 0.01

Note: Average data for the period.

Source: BNB.

The currency structure of BNB international reserves remained almost unchanged
on 2007, with euro-denominated assets having the largest share at 93.3 per cent on av-
erage over the period. Monetary gold came to 6.2 per cent of foreign exchange reserves.

Monetary liabilities denominated in levs and euro exceeded 99 per cent of all BNB
liabilities on average in the first six months of the year.

There were changes in the structure of assets by financial instrument. The share of
securities grew to over 80 per cent on average at the expense of money market instru-
ments which were mostly short-term deposits with first-rated foreign banks. Following the
outbreak of the world financial crisis, the BNB reduced further its exposure to foreign
counterparty banks in maturity and in amount.

G
ross International Foreign Exchange R

eserves

The structure of international reserves by residual term to maturity changed slightly
compared to the 2007 average. The share of short-term investment (with maturity of up to
a year) decreased at the expense of increases in other maturity sectors.

1 194 2 410 1 209
-22 -60 -22

1 204 2 458 1 231
15 015 54 467 56 998

-13 811 -52 008 -55 767
-686 135 -101

-64 827 103
-622 -691 -204
508 2 545 1 108

Large Cash Flows (net)
(million EUR)

 External flows 2007 2007 2008
Jan. – June Total Jan. – June

Purchases and sales of euro
at tills
banks, incl.
     purchases from banks
     sales to banks
Flows on accounts of banks, the MF, etc.
minimum required reserves
Government and other depositors
TOTAL FOR THE PERIOD

Source: BNB.
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Source: BNB.

Yield to Maturity of Government Securities in EUR
(%)

2. Gross International Reserve Risk and Yield

Euro-denominated assets dominated the currency structure of international reserves,
lending asset management eminence to the euro-denominated government securities
market. There were two divergent periods in euro area benchmark government bonds in
the first half of 2008. Over the first quarter bond yields moved down following falling stock
market indices, decreased confidence on the world financial market and a decline in risk
investment appetite resulting in flight-to-quality episodes. Over the second quarter yields
rose significantly, entirely offsetting their earlier drop. During this period market partici-
pants expected rises in ECB interest rates due to strong inflationary pressures in the euro
area and the anti-inflationary rhetoric of the ECB. In addition, higher-than-expected GDP
growth in the euro area supported confidence in the economy.

The world financial crisis continued to push up risk premia on EU Member States’
government debts. By mid-March five-year spreads hit a high for the period under review.
In Italy and Portugal, government securities premia increased by 59 and 42 basis points
unlike the 25 basis point rise in Spain and Ireland. After a short period of narrowing in the
beginning of the second quarter, spreads started to widen. By the end of the first half of
2008 government debt spreads in some euro area countries were at a historical high.
Worsening housing market performance and growth slowdown in these countries were
among drivers behind this. The financial crisis severely affected countries such as Spain,
Italy, Ireland, and Portugal. Investors’ interest in government securities issued by these
countries continued to languish.

With the Bear Stearns’ liquidity crisis in full swing by mid-March, credit spreads on
US financial sector debt instruments in the USA and Europe reached record highs. Un-
precedented actions by the world’s largest central banks and the purchase of Bear
Stearns by JP Morgan helped stabilize and subsequently reduce credit risk in prime-rated
banks.

The Market
Environment

Structure of Gross International Reserves by Residual Term to Maturity
(%)

Maturity sectors 2007 January – June 2008

Up to 1 year
From 1 to 3 years
From 3 to 5 years
From 5 to 10 years
From 10 to 30 years

Note: Average data for the period.

Source: BNB.

88.82 86.60
9.08 10.16
1.51 1.71
0.59 1.12
0.00 0.41
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Source: BNB.

Yield to Maturity of Government Securities in USD
(%)

As European banks began reporting financial results in the last week of April, risk
premia started rising again. By the end of the first half-year credit premia of European
banks posted increases of 50 to 70 basis points on the end of 2007. By the end of June
most leading institutions continued disclosing considerable exposures to risky financial
instruments threatening potential future losses. Credit premia in the financial sector are
likely to remain high until bank rehabilitation is completed.

In the first six months of 2008 gold appreciated 10.8 per cent in US dollar terms and
2.7 per cent in euro terms. A historic high of USD 1004 per troy ounce (spot) came on 18
March when the global financial crisis exacerbated following the Bear Stearns collapse.
Gold prices increased mainly in the first quarter as financial markets experienced sub-
stantial turbulence and flights to quality. Over the same period gold attracted high inves-
tor interest as a hedge against inflation and US dollar depreciation and as an instrument
for stabilizing investment portfolios. Gold retained its strong dependence on changes in
the USD/EUR rate.

In the second half of the period gold reversed its recent upward trend. Spreads also
contracted, with investors gradually closing gold positions and shifting to alternative as-
sets. Only at the end of the review period did gold exceed USD 900 again, retaining this
level due to inflationary fears.

G
ross International Foreign Exchange R

eserves

One Troy Ounce Gold Price in US Dollars
(USD)

Source: BNB.
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Non-institutional investors’ interest in gold stayed high despite an initial withdrawal
in April. By the end of June the assets of exchange-traded funds investing in gold ac-
counted for 948 tonnes, up five tonnes on the end of March (943 tonnes of physical gold).
The assets of SPDR Gold Shares, the largest gold-backed exchange-traded fund, rose by
two tonnes to 644.

In late June the ECB announced it had sold 30 tonnes of gold over the first half of
2008. This increased sales to 72 tonnes between 27 September 2007 and 26 September
2008, the fourth year of the Central Bank Gold Agreement II (CBGA II). The ECB does not
intend to sell further gold until the end of the year. Between 27 September 2007 and now
central banks had sold 267 tonnes of gold.

In early 2008 the Governing Council of the BNB set the current year’s risk value of
the Banking Department’s deposit with the Issue Department at VaR13 = 0% at 95 per cent
confidence level. The BNB did not exceed this risk tolerance over the review period.

One Troy Ounce Gold Price in Euro
(EUR)

Source: BNB.

Major Types
of Risk

Source: BNB.

US Dollar Price in Euro
(EUR)

13 Net value risk measured by VaR=-X% (X>0) at 95 per cent confidence level and allowing for normal yield allocation
means that 95 per cent of the time maximum net value loss would not exceed X per cent.
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G
ross International Foreign Exchange R

eserves
Over the first six months of 2008 international reserve interest rate risk measured by

reserves’ average modified duration (for the whole reporting period) was 0.48 (0.44 for
2007). Over the review period interest rate risk restriction (maximum duration of assets in
euro at six months) was retained due to continuing high uncertainty and world financial
market fluctuations.

Currency risk was constrained by the Law on the BNB stipulation that the sum of the
absolute values of open foreign currency positions14 in currencies other than euro, SDR,
and monetary gold, should not exceed 2 per cent of the market value of monetary liabili-
ties in these currencies. In the period under review minimal open currency positions were
maintained in currencies other than euro. The open position in monetary gold continued
posing the major currency risk to the Bank.

In late 2007 and in March 2008 the BNB implemented additional measures to curb
international reserve credit risk amid the credit and liquidity crisis. The maximum term to
maturity of short-term foreign currency deposits was cut markedly and deposits in mon-
etary gold were discontinued. Additional limits were imposed on credit risk at counter-
parties to which the Bank may have exposures. Foreign currency operations with financial
institutions reporting higher credit risk temporarily stopped. This cut average exposure to
non-resident banks over the review period to 14.7 per cent of total assets, from 23.9 per
cent in 2007. Funds invested into assets with the highest credit rating (AAA) averaged 53
per cent, those in AA+ around 24 per cent, in AA 9 per cent, and in AA-15 14 per cent.

Operational risk was monitored strictly and controlled under the business proce-
dures for international reserve management.

After profound market environment analyses, amid uncertainty on global financial
markets and expectations of further rises in the ECB reference rate and euro area yield
curve levels, over the first half of 2008 the BNB kept its international reserve interest rate
risk restriction unchanged on the first quarter of 2006: the maximum duration of euro-de-
nominated assets remained six months.

Over the review period BNB income from international reserve investment came to
EUR 199.84 million or 1.65 per cent yield. Total currency imbalance16 yielded EUR 17.02
million over the review period mainly due to the open position in gold and the rise in the
world gold price in euro. Interest on Issue Department balance sheet liabilities was
EUR 57.39 million. As a result of these three components, net earnings from BNB interna-
tional reserve management came to EUR 159.46 million: 1.30 per cent net annual yield.

14 An open foreign currency position is the difference between the value of assets and liabilities in any currency other than
the euro.

15 Under investment restrictions, financial instruments into which the Bank may invest, and counterparties where it may
place short-term deposits, have to have at least an AA- rating by Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings or Aa3 by Moody’s.
All financial instruments or counterparties should have one of the above ratings assigned by at least two internationally
recognized credit rating agencies.

16 Currency imbalance yield is the sum total of effects from exchange rate movements on open foreign currency positions
of assets and liabilities.

Yield and
Efficiency

Earnings and Profitability of International Reserves, January – June 2008
(million EUR)

Earnings, Investment Earnings from currency Expenditure
Quarters net earnings imbalance between (interest)
2008 assets and liabilities on liabilities

(1)+(2)+(3) (1) (2) (3)

I 100.90 118.40 8.55 -26.05
II 58.56 81.44 8.46 -31.35

Total earnings, million EUR 159.46 199.84 17.02 -57.39
Total profitability*, % 1.30 1.65 0.13 -0.49

* Six-month profitability.

Source: BNB.
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* The positive relative profitability of an individual portfolio is the profit compared with benchmark profitability. If the relative profit-
ability were negative, it would be shown as a loss of profit in portfolio management.

** The relative risk to the benchmark is an indicator of the deviation degree of risk characteristics compared with those of the bench-
mark resulting from active portfolio management. Risk on an annual basis.

*** The information coefficient is the ratio between the expected relative profitability of an individual portfolio and its relative risk (on
an annual basis).

**** In the second quarter there was no benchmark for the gold portfolio; hence, only absolute values are indicated in the table.

Source: BNB.

Portfolio
Portfolio’s

base
currency

Profitability Risk (Volatility)

Information
coefficient***Absolute

(%)
Relative

(basis points)*

Investment 1 ЕUR
Investment 2 ЕUR
Liquidity ЕUR
Gold**** XAU
External manager А ЕUR
External manager В ЕUR

Absolute
(basis points)

Relative
(basis points)**

Profitability and Risk of Portfolios (January – June 2008)

1.85 16 23 16 2.04
1.78 9 25 8 2.19
2.03 -1 1 1 -1.75
0.10 17

-0.79 3 174 12 0.55
-1.17 -20 204 47 -1.68

Changes in the net value of the Banking Department’s deposit in the Issue
Department’s balance sheet resulted from two major factors: a net international reserve
yield contribution of EUR 159.46 million (13.52 per cent yield for the period); a EUR 128.15
million 2007 contribution to the state budget, which cut the net value.

International reserves are split operationally into portfolios depending on investment
goal and base currency, each with a benchmark, investment goals, and limits. BNB port-
folios and results from their management are presented in the table below.

In the first half of 2008 a small portion of international reserves went under external
management (5.11 per cent by the end of the review period). Beside additional diversifi-
cation, using external managers helped exchange expertise in international market invest-
ment management. Liquidity portfolios were formed to assist immediate payment needs.
To diversify management styles and reduce operational risk, the bulk of euro-denominated
assets continued to be split into two investment portfolios with identical benchmarks and
investment limits, managed by different teams.
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Source: BNB.

Distribution of Payments in Bulgaria, January – June 2008

Amount of Payments by SystemNumber of Payments by System

The National Payment SystemIII.
The Law on the Bulgarian National Bank tasks the Bank with organizing, supporting

and developing payment systems by assisting the implementation, operation and over-
sight of efficient payment mechanisms. Reducing systemic risk and creating conditions
for Bulgarian integration into the euro area payment infrastructure were among the Bank’s
major goals.

An Ordinance on Amendment to  BNB Ordinance No 3 on Funds Transfers and Pay-
ment Systems was adopted in February. The amendment settled legal and technical de-
tails related to licensing and operations at money remittance companies as required by
the Law on  Funds Transfers, Electronic Payment Instruments and Payment Systems. The
amendment also regulates the opening of BNB accounts for payments on government
securities transactions of primary dealers and others nominated by the Minister of Finance
and the Governor of the BNB.

Changes in the Law on Funds Transfers, Electronic Payment Instruments and Pay-
ment Systems and to BNB Ordinance No 3 transpose into Bulgarian legislation the re-
quirements of Article 36 of Directive 2005/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 26 October 2005 on preventing the use of the financial system for money laun-
dering and terrorist financing, providing the legal foundation for applying Regulation (EC)
No 1781/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council on information on the payer
accompanying transfers of funds.

In April 2008 summarized statistical data on operations conducted by BISERA,
BORICA and RINGS in the second half of 2006 and the first half of 2007 (under the In-
structions to Ordinance No 3 of the BNB) were published for the first time on the BNB
website along with statistical data on bank payment card issues and operations (under the
Instructions to Ordinance No 16 of the BNB). Publication of the summarized statistical
data will enable banks to assess their market shares in terms of money transfer services,
card payments and other card transactions.

The national payment system includes the RINGS real time interbank gross settle-
ment system operated by the BNB and the two complementary systems of BISERA (for
servicing customer payments at a designated time, operated by Bankservice AD) and
BORICA (for servicing card payments within Bulgaria, operated by BORICA AD). BORICA
AD is also a Member Service Provider of MasterCard Europe and a Processor Company

The N
ational Paym

ent System
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17 The ratio of the time when the system was actually operational against overall system operating time.

of Visa International. Securities settlement systems in Bulgaria include the BNB System for
Servicing Payments on Transactions in Book-Entry Government Securities and the Central
Depository’s System for Servicing Payments on Transactions in Book-Entry Securities.

In the first six months of 2008 RINGS processed over 87 per cent of payments by
value. Values around 80 per cent are considered optimal for the operation of real-time
gross settlement systems. RINGS processed 0.63 per cent of all non-cash payments. The
progressively growing share of RINGS in the value and number of processed payments
indicated rising public confidence and helped subdue payment risks.

Payments processed by BORICA rose 9 per cent in number and 25 per cent in
value, while average payment value picked up 14.73 per cent on the first half of 2007. The
increase reflected growing consumer willingness to use cards in payments and cash with-
drawals. ATM transactions grew by 45.31 per cent in number and 70.49 per cent in value
on the first half of 2007. Compared with the first half of 2007, transactions through BISERA
rose 17.62 per cent in value and 10.45 per cent in number. Transactions through the Cen-
tral Depository posted a significant fall on the first half of 2007 at 63.35 per cent in value
and 1.93 per cent in number due to equity market trading declines.

1. The RINGS Real Time Interbank Gross Settlement
System

Processing most payments by value through RINGS greatly cuts payment risks. In
the review period RINGS processed 513,331 payments totaling BGN 358,918 million.
Compared with the first half of 2007, daily average numbers rose by 18.84 per cent, while
daily average value picked up by 121.33 per cent, reflecting dramatic value rises in inter-
bank transactions. Increases in the value and number of RINGS payments indicate the
rise in payment average value (86.24 per cent) which is more significant in interbank pay-
ments rather than customer payments.

Over the review period 32.84 per cent of payments were processed by noon and
59.33 per cent by 2:30 pm. A trend emerged to a rise in payment value in the later hours.
As regards system traffic, 85.46 per cent of RINGS payments were effected by 2:30 pm,
this indicator changing slightly (9 percentage points) on the first half of 2007.

In the first half of 2008 no payments were rejected by the close of the RINGS’ sys-
tem day due to insufficient funds on participants’ accounts, indicating good liquidity man-
agement by banks. Over the review period there was no recourse to the Reserve Collat-
eral Pool established as an interbank insurance mechanism to guarantee settlement of
system operators’ orders.

During the half-year RINGS offered 99.85 per cent availability.17 Its value posted a
slight increase on the same period of 2007. Operational problems were handled under
RINGS contingency rules and procedures.

During the first half of 2008 the number of participants in RINGS remained un-
changed at 29.

2. Payment System Developments

Payment system development in Bulgaria is related to BNB and banking community
integration into European payment mechanisms. To this end, the BNB Governing Council
meeting of 24 January 2008 decided to implement a TARGET2 integration project. A work-
ing group was established at the BNB to study and assess actions and changes with re-
gard to this. The group prepared a report on BNB participation in TARGET2.
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3. Payment System Oversight

Limiting system risk and improving Bulgarian payment systems’ reliability and effi-
ciency were the major goals of payment systems supervisors. They monitored observance
of standards and recommendations by the Bank for International Settlements, the Interna-
tional Organization of Securities Commissions, the European Central Bank, and the Euro-
pean System of Central Banks.

In March 2008 the BNB started a supervisory inspection of EPAY AD to review the
services offered by this company and observance of the Law on Funds Transfers, Elec-
tronic Payment Instruments and Payment Systems and its statutory framework. The in-
spection was expected to last into the second half of 2008.

The following money remittance companies operational at the adoption of the
Amendment to the Law on Funds Transfers, Electronic Payment Instruments and Payment
Systems filed applications for licenses under the amended Ordinance No 3: MoneyGram
Payment Systems Bulgaria EOOD, a subsidiary of the US MoneyGram Payment Systems,
Inc.; Coinstar Money Transfer (Bulgaria) EOOD, a subsidiary of the UK Coinstar Money
Transfer; Master Envios Bulgaria EOOD, a subsidiary of Master Envios Unidos SA, Spain;
XPRESSMONEY Services Limited, United Arab Emirates; Money Exchange SA, Spain;
Unistream Bank, Russia; Bankservice AD; Factor I. N. AD; Change-Centre  Bulgaria
EOOD; Cash Express Service EOOD; Fixus OOD. The US WESTERN Union Co. notified
the BNB of its intention to operate money remittance business in Bulgaria through West-
ern Union International Bank GmbH, Austria.

The N
ational Paym

ent System
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Bank Reserves at the BNBIV.
From 1 September 2007 a new amendment to Ordinance No 21 raised the amount

of minimum required reserves from 8 to 12 per cent18 which meant that banks had to
maintain greater liquid assets. In the first six months of 2008 the volume of transactions on
the interbank lev market rose by 55.19 per cent, with changed rules for primary dealers’
selection affecting this volume by including a new criterion for bank participation in the
government securities secondary market.

The average amount of borrowed funds increased by 26.44 per cent in the first half
of 2008 compared with the same period of 2007. Lev-denominated deposits increased by
17.93 per cent and the lev equivalent of borrowed funds in foreign currency increased by
33.46 per cent. At the same time, the raising of reserves from 8 per cent in the first half of
2007 boosted significantly banks’ reserves by 59.61 per cent: 49.52 per cent denomi-
nated in levs and 67.86 per cent in the lev equivalent of foreign currencies.

Reserves in levs grew by 54.57 per cent on the previous year, their absolute amount
exceeding further settlement needs. Foreign currency reserves went up 44.09 per cent,
their relative share fluctuating between 61.18 per cent and 66.11 per cent in individual
months.

In each individual month the amount of banking excess reserves was sustained at 1
per cent of total reserves, while in the first half of 2008 their average level, in absolute
value, rose by 40.14 per cent on the previous year.

18  See Bulgarian National Bank Annual Report, 2007, p. 27.
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Cash in
Circulation

(Outside BNB
Vaults)

Banknotes and Coins in Circulation
(million BGN)

Source: BNB.

Cash in CirculationV.
The Bulgarian National Bank holds the Bulgarian banknote and coin monopoly19.

Cash issued by the Bank is legal tender acceptable mandatorily in payment at full face
value without restriction. The BNB prints banknotes, mints coins, and safeguards uncircu-
lated and withdrawn cash.

Cash in circulation20 by 30 June 2008 reached BGN 8124.5 million, down
BGN 286.3 million or 3.40 per cent since early 2008. Year-on-year cash in circulation (on
the end of June 2007) rose by BGN 1140.3 million or 16.33 per cent, and 0.52 percentage
points less than in the same period of 2007.

19 Article 2, paragraph 5 of the Law on the Bulgarian National Bank.
20 Banknotes and circulating or commemorative coins issued after 5 July 1999. Under BNB Governing Council Resolution

No 110 of 6 October 2005, banknotes and circulating coins whose exchange term has not expired and which have not
been returned to BNB vaults were deducted from cash in circulation. To allow genuine comparisons, the lev value of
these banknotes has also been deducted from the amounts of cash in circulation for previous years.

By the end of June 2008 the number of banknotes in circulation was 318.3 million
with a value of BGN 7989.6 million. In a year their number increased by 31.3 million (10.92
per cent) and their value by BGN 1119.2 million (16.29 per cent). Since early 2008
banknotes in circulation fell by 25.5 million (7.42 per cent) and their value by BGN 295.2
million (3.56 per cent).

Banknotes comprised 98.34 per cent of the total value of cash outside BNB vaults
by 30 June 2008. The average value of banknotes in circulation on 30 June 2008 was
BGN 25.10. Since early 2008 this increased by BGN 1.00 or 4.15 per cent. The dynamic
upward trend in the average value of banknotes in circulation in recent years reflects the
increasing share of higher denomination banknotes.

The higher penetration of BGN 100 banknotes in circulation along with their high
nominal value boosted significantly their value share in circulating cash. The share of
BGN 100 banknotes increased by 3.50 percentage points to 24.36 per cent at the end of
the review period, from 20.86 per cent at the end of 2007. In the first half of 2008 their
number increased by 2.2 million or 12.61 per cent. As regards the other denominations of
circulating cash, the number of banknotes fell on the end of 2007.
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Denomination Composition of Circulating Banknotes
(as of 30 June of corresponding year) (share of total value)

Source: BNB.

Denomination Composition of Circulating Coins
(as of 30 June of corresponding year) (share of total value)

Source: BNB.

By the end of June 2008 the number of coins in circulation was 940.9 million with a
value of BGN 130.7 million. In a year their number increased by 127.9 million (15.74 per
cent) and their value by 20.7 million (18.85 per cent). Since the start of 2008 coins outside
BNB vaults grew by 54.5 million or 6.15 per cent in number and BGN 8.7 million (7.09 per
cent) in value. Circulating coins accounted for 1.61 per cent of the total value of cash out-
side BNB vaults by 30 June 2008. At the end of the review period the average coin in cir-
culation matched its level of early 2008 at BGN 0.14.

Commemorative coins outside BNB vaults came to BGN 4.2 million, comprising 0.05
per cent of cash in circulation by value.

Timely public advice is an important tool for counteracting and preventing the
spread of non-genuine Bulgarian banknotes. To this end, the BNB disseminated notices
describing the methods for recognizing non-genuine banknotes to banks, finance houses
and exchange bureaux. Where necessary, public notices were posted, with tips for recog-
nizing non-genuine banknotes and recommended actions in case of doubt. The BNB’s
public awareness campaigns and the Bulgarian media’s collaboration over the review pe-
riod deserve to be noted.

The period saw authenticity evaluations of 17,518 Bulgarian and foreign banknotes
and 410 coins at the BNB National Analysis Centre under Article 27 of the Law on the

Non-genuine
Banknotes
and Coins
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21 Information on commemorative coins put into circulation is published on the BNB website.

BNB Cash
Operations

Bulgarian National Bank. Banknotes suspected of being non-genuine or altered were re-
tained and referred by financial institutions and the Ministry of the Interior to the BNB.

The National Analysis Centre found 2656 Bulgarian banknotes to be non-genuine in
the first half of 2008, 2281 of them having entered into circulation. BGN 20 banknotes had
the largest share of retained banknotes at 52.33 per cent, followed by BGN 10 and BGN
50 banknotes at 29.18 per cent and 17.73 per cent. Reported non-genuine BGN 2, BGN
5 and BGN 100 banknotes numbered 29 (0.76 per cent). In the first half of 2008 non-genu-
ine Bulgarian coins numbered 396: 385 BGN 0.50 and 11 BGN 1 coins.

Another BNB tool in countering non-genuine banknote and coin circulation in Bul-
garia is close cooperation and early warning exchanges with the Ministry of the Interior,
the Prosecution Service, banks, the ECB and the European Anti-Fraud Office. Offices of
the Ministry of the Interior and the Prosecution Service forwarded to the BNB 15,285
banknotes and two coins for examination. Of them, 25.34 per cent were identified as non-
genuine. In compliance with the EU central bank agreement, all non-genuine euro
banknotes registered by the National Analysis Centre were registered with the ECB Coun-
terfeit Monitoring System (CMS).

Evaluating suspect foreign cash, in the first half of 2008 the National Analysis Cen-
tre retained 2679 euro banknotes, 641 US dollar banknotes, and 53 other banknotes.

BNB cash operations include delivering, accepting, repaying, processing, authen-
ticity and physical monitoring of banknotes and coins, keeping Bulgarian cash and foreign
currency, exchanging and destroying unfit Bulgarian cash. Servicing retail customers in
levs and reserve currency and first level budget spending entities in levs and foreign cur-
rency and selling commemorative coins is concentrated at the Sofia Cash Centre.

Between January and June 2008, 59.1 million new banknotes and 30.4 million new
circulating coins worth BGN 1451.6 million were supplied under contracts with producers.
Under powers vested into it by Article 25, paragraph 1 of the Law on the BNB21 the Bank
launched the three commemorative coins planned in its minting programme.

The total amount of banknotes and circulating coins deposited and withdrawn by
banks between January and June 2008 was BGN 10,313.2 million. Banks deposited Bul-
garian cash worth BGN 5291.9 million with the BNB: up by BGN 1408.7 million or 36.28
per cent compared with the January to June 2007 period. Over the first half of 2008 banks
withdrew Bulgarian cash worth BGN 5021.3 million: an increase of BGN 1050.5 million or
26.46 per cent on the end of June 2007.

The increase in deposited banknotes affected banknote flow at BNB tills. Between
June 2007 and June 2008 recirculation of almost all denominations (particularly BGN 10
and BGN 20) through the BNB increased on the same period of 2007.  This was positively
influenced by the operation of the Cash Services Company established by the BNB with
several banks. Between mid-April and mid-June the BNB gradually curtailed introducing
and withdrawing cash at its cash centres except its Sofia cash office. These operations
began to be conducted on purely commercial terms by the Cash Services Company,
completing an important stage of the Strategy for BNB Development between 2004 and
2009. The new manner of distributing cash will enable service suppliers to raise cash pro-
cessing efficiency and quality through fitness sorting by machines which have been
tested successfully by the BNB.

Between January and June 2008 the BNB processed 326.8 million banknotes and
37.9 million coins worth BGN 5388.2 million: banknote numbers increased by 58.8 million
(21.96 per cent), while coins fell by 26.6 million (41.22 per cent) on the same period of
2007. BGN 10 and 20 banknotes and BGN 1, BGN 0.10 and BGN 0.20 coins had the larg-
est shares in the nominal value structure of cash processed by the BNB.

Unfit banknotes numbering 55.1 million and worth BGN 775.4 million were de-
stroyed. Banknotes retained in processing and fitness sorting numbered 54.9 million,
down 15.1 million or 21.56 per cent on the first half of 2007, while unfit coins came to
132.9 thousand, down 41.47 per cent on the same period of 2007.

In the first half of 2008 building at the new modern BNB cash centre in Sofia was
running to schedule.
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VI. Maintaining Banking System Stability

1. State of the Banking System

In the first six months of 2008 banking system financial indicators remained stable.
Credit institutions continued to expand their operations by increasing the deposit base
and strengthening the capital position. The Bulgarian banking sector retained high public
confidence under unfavourable international conditions and an attempt to discredit a large
bank in May 2008.

By the end of June 2008 banking assets totaled BGN 65.7 billion: BGN 6.7 billion
more than the December 2007 level, or an annual growth rate of 11.3 per cent approxi-
mating that reported in the first six months of 2007. Increased attracted funds (mostly
credit institution, individual and household deposits) and greater own funds financed as-
set growth. (They were also the major sources of funds over the year.) Between June 2007
and June 2008 the banking balance sheet rose by 39.2 per cent.

Over the first half of 2008 the big five strengthened their market share by 1 percent-
age point to 57.6 per cent by the close of June. The decisive role of these banks was il-
lustrated by the fact that their share in banking asset growth over the first six months of the
year accounted for more than two-thirds. Foreign banks’ branches also increased their
market shares to 5.5 per cent. Concurrently, the share of Group II banks decreased to
36.9 per cent. Over the first half of 2008 no changes occurred to credit institution owner-
ship. Due to movements in individual banks’ balance sheet assets, the decline in domes-
tic credit institutions continued, their share of banking system assets falling to 15.9 per
cent by 30 June 2008. The market shares of EU subsidiary banks and branches enjoying
solid resource support from parent companies came to 76.5 per cent and 4.7 per cent
respectively.

A review of the banking system balance sheet shows a shift to higher earning as-
sets. This has led to a decline in the share of securities, cash, and receivables from credit
institutions over the first half of 2008. The faster growth of loans compared to assets has
predetermined an increase in the share of loans and receivables (including financial
leases) to 78.3 per cent of banking sector assets. By the end of June 2008 gross loans
and advances totaled BGN 52.5 billion; of this, loans extended to corporate customers
made up 55.8 per cent and retail exposures 29.5 per cent. Gross loans and advances
rose by BGN 6.6 billion (14.4 per cent) on December 2007 with the bulk of the volume
used in the second quarter of 2008. An increase was recorded in enterprises, retail expo-
sures, and non-credit institutions. The continued decline in receivables from credit institu-
tions (placements and repo agreements) prompted a decrease in the share of gross loans
and advances to 13 per cent or 7 percentage points over a year. Over the six-month pe-
riod gross loans, advances, and retail exposures grew by BGN 7.5 billion (20 per cent),
more than half the growth provided by the big five. This growth did not include BGN 1242
million net sales of loans from banks’ balance sheets.22

By June the share of net loans to corporates and retail exposures accounted for 66.5
per cent of banking system assets: an increase of 5 percentage points on the end of
2007. Growth in the corporate segment was higher than in retail exposures both over the
review period and over the last 12 months. Household lending increased by BGN 2.5 bil-
lion, equally distributed between housing mortgage and consumer loans. However, the
two areas grew differently, housing mortgage loans continuing to grow 4 percentage
points faster than consumer loans. By June more than two-thirds of corporate loans were
in euro while retail exposures in levs accounted for three quarters. The currency analysis

22 Between June 2007 and June 2008 BGN 2882 million of loans were sold from bank balance sheets, while repurchases
totaled BGN 596 million, or net credit portfolio sales of BGN 2286 million.
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of gross loans and advances shows an increase in euro-denominated exposures (to 54.2
per cent) at the expense of levs (to 42.1 per cent) and other currencies (to 3.8 per cent).

Banks’ borrowed funds had a similar currency composition and similar six-month dy-
namics: an increase in the share of the euro-denominated component to 56.5 per cent
and decreases in the lev and other currencies to 37.4 per cent and 6.1 per cent respec-
tively. Compared with December 2007, borrowed funds rose by BGN 5.9 billion or 11.2
per cent, a rate similar to that of assets. Additional resources came mainly from credit in-
stitutions (BGN 3.9 billion), individuals, and households (BGN 1.9 billion), particularly in
the second quarter when parent companies actively backed expansion by local subsidiar-
ies and branches. By the end of June individual and household deposits contributed most
to funds at 35.9 per cent, followed by those from institutions other than credit ones at 34.5
per cent. Resources from credit institutions comprised 26.5 per cent. Analyzing funds on
the residence principle indicates that domestic resources were the major source of bank
finance, with the share of residents at 71.6 per cent against 28.4 per cent for non-resi-
dents.

Between January and June 2008 the total capital balance sheet aggregate rose by
BGN 741 million (11.9 per cent) due to increased reserves (including retained profit),
profit over the review period, and greater equity issue. Faster equity growth compared
with assets both in the first half of 2008 and over the year as a whole reflects banks’ ef-
forts to strengthen their capital positions.

Capital analyses for supervisory purposes suggest that credit institutions’ cover of
credit, market and operational risk is generally adequate. Most banks responded in a
timely manner to the requirement to put up extra resources to meet capital requirements.
Capital levels at some credit institutions slid to regulatory minima due to underestimated
planning and capital management costs.

Between January and June 2008 banking’s own funds increased by BGN 1425 mil-
lion and their growth (24.4 per cent) compared with that of lending resulted in a capital
surplus. In absolute terms, the contribution of tier one capital was most substantial
(BGN 957 million), while additional capital grew even faster. By the end of June the total
capital adequacy ratio was 14.55 per cent against 13.86 per cent in December 2007. The
higher capital surplus in the sector (BGN 1262 million) allowed for expansion; however, it
was unevenly distributed, two-thirds of it concentrated in the big five.

Between January and June tier one capital (equity and reserves) rose by 21.4 per
cent. Tier two capital, including subordinated term debt and debt/capital (hybrid) instru-
ments was used by few banks and its potential remained unrealized. By the end of June
some three quarters of funds recognized as additional capital were borrowed by Group 1
banks.

Banking continued to report a high degree of sensitivity to credit risk. By June
BGN 5308 million or 89.4 per cent of total banking system capital requirements were allo-
cated to cover all bank risks. The relative weight of credit risk in total capital requirements
remained at its December 2007 levels.

Operational risk ranked second by significance in the system, with the capital re-
quired to cover it calculated at BGN 511 million or 8.6 per cent of total capital require-
ments. Compared with the end of 2007 the share of operational risk went up both in ab-
solute and relative terms, reflecting computation methods (the basic indicator approach
based on audited annual reports for the prior three calendar years).

Position, foreign currency, and commodity risk (the three known as market risk) re-
quired the smallest amount of capital cover (BGN 120 million) and accordingly posed the
least burden on total capital requirements (2 per cent). This pertains to the insignificant
amount of investment in complex instruments and currencies other than the euro. Com-
pared with the base period the amount of funds allocated to cover market risk was lower
and its share in banking system total capital requirements went down by 0.5 percentage
points.

Off-site monitoring and on-site supervision of credit institutions suggested that good
asset quality prevailed at most banks. Banks’ specific provisions against impairment loss
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and credit risk exceeded non-performing exposures by 33 per cent, allowing additional
risk absorption in case of worsening asset quality.

Earnings indicators reflect the banking system balance sheet which is dominated by
interest-earning assets (mostly loans and advances). Continued euro area interest rate
growth and the higher cost of borrowed funds did not affect the profitability of Bulgarian
banks. Responding to unfavourable international financial market trends, bank loans
started gradually appreciating in Bulgaria amid extensive advertising and lending in-
creases. Though by June annual interest income growth trailed interest expenditure by 20
percentage points, the net interest rate margin matched that of June 2007 at 5.05 per
cent. During the first six months of 2008 banking profits were BGN 729 million (up
BGN 238 million on the same period of 2007) and their reported 48.5 per cent growth ex-
ceeded asset growth by 9.3 percentage points. By 30 June 2008 banking profits ensured
a ROA of 2.40 per cent against 2.22 per cent a year earlier. Major profitability indicators
exhibited higher values on June 2007, exceeding EU averages. Core ROA improved to
2.46 per cent and ROE reached 24.25 per cent. The five largest banks in Bulgaria, all EU
bank subsidiaries, continued reporting better profitability indicators than domestic banks.
This was attributable to market positions gained and financial support by parents which
ensured some price advantage.

Non-interest income remained a potential source for improving banks’ performance.
By June 2008 it accounted for 22 per cent from core operations: a decline on June 2007.
Fee and commission income and expenditure forming the non-interest income went up at
a much slower rate than assets. The slower growth of banks’ administrative expenses and
an efficiency improvement of 2 percentage points to 49.83 per cent by June 2008 also
had a positive effect.

In the first six months of 2008 banking liquidity ensured sufficient cover for borrowed
funds. The reported 4.5 per cent decline in liquid assets on the end of 2007 was attribut-
able to decreased cash and placements into credit institutions and securities. Lower val-
ues of most liquidity indicators directly reflected improved banking profitability. By 30
June 2008 liquid assets accounted for 21.3 per cent of the banking system balance sheet
figure and the liquid assets ratio under BNB Ordinance No 11 was 24 per cent. Values by
bank varied but the levels remained sufficiently high and credit institutions ensured
smooth customer service.

2. Compliance with Prudent Banking Requirements

Between January and June 2008 supervisory inspections and off-site supervision
found individual regulatory breaches. Supervisory measures included shortened reporting
intervals to the BNB.

Capital adequacy: A temporary total adequacy ratio slide close to regulatory minima
under BNB Ordinance No 8 took place at one bank.

Large exposures: Banks adhered to the Law on Credit Institutions Article 44 and to
BNB Ordinance No 7, with two breaches on individual large exposures and lending to
economically related parties. Relevant supervisory action, including lending constraints,
was taken by the BNB against one credit institution.

Internal loans: The Law on Credit Institutions Article 45 and BNB Ordinance No 7
were breached by several banks and action was taken against offenders.

3. Banking Supervision

The new Ordinance No 9 on the Evaluation and Classification of Risk Exposures of
Banks and the Allocation of Provisions to Cover Credit Risk entered into force in the pe-
riod under review. It reflects Basel II developments and ensures uniform provisioning
within international banking groups. The new manner of determining specific loss provi-
sions for the future affects banks’ capital adequacy if they have exceeded financial asset
accounting impairments in past events (after initial recognition). The Ordinance sets out
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risk exposure evaluation criteria, describes internal duties, procedures and mechanisms,
and sets out evaluation and system credit risk management methods. The Ordinance also
aims to prepare banks for Basel II credit risk internal rating under which identical require-
ments are applied. Banks were consulted in drafting the Ordinance and were given addi-
tional instructions on implementing it.

Ordinance No 8 on the Capital Adequacy of Credit Institutions was also amended.
Changes allow banks to include semi-annual profits in their capital base subject to Direc-
tive 2006/48/ЕC relating to the taking up and pursuit of the business of credit institutions.
Sundry supervisory fees for approving internal models for evaluating credit, market, and
operational risk, and for recognizing netting agreements, were removed.

The Committee of European Banking Supervisors’ instructions on Pillar 2 of the Basel
II Supervisory Review were approved and adopted. Provisions on supervisory reviews,
bank portfolios’ interest risk management, concentration risk management, and stress
testing within the process of supervisory review reflect CEBS thinking on banking super-
vision. According to it, banks should ensure reliable risk management and internal analy-
sis of the amount, type, and distribution of risk capital. To this end, the Bank’s supervisors
will periodically review and assess internal capital adequacy analyses and the adequacy
of their implementation as part of risk-based supervision. This will allow the BNB to super-
vise according to supervisory review results.

Preparations to introduce other CEBS instructions continued. Over the review period
instructions on outsourcing, and the implementation, validation and assessment of inter-
nal models were being adapted to domestic use.

The project on problems in banking practices and supervisory solutions was imple-
mented and information was posted on the BNB website.

By the end of the six-month period the BNB took part in the Financial Sector Assess-
ment Program (FSAP) managed by the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank.
The initiative aims to assess the quality of member states’ supervisory systems and their
compliance with the core Basel principles of effective banking supervision and strength-
ening financial system reliability.

Participation in major EU banking development and supervision fora included, inter
alia, work in the Committee of European Banking Supervisors (CEBS) and its working
groups, the European Banking Committee (EBC), the Interim Working Committee of Finan-
cial Conglomerates (IWCFC), the ECB Banking Supervision Committee (BSC), and the re-
gional Group of Banking Supervisors from Central and Eastern Europe (BSCEE).

Licensing proceedings on the Financia Bank AD, in process since 2007, ended with
a refusal in the first half of 2008. This was greatly influenced by the adoption of The Major
Principles of BNB Licensing Policy in mid-2007. The period under review did not see sig-
nificant banking changes requiring permits by the BNB. Increases in the capital bases of
actively lending banks, through equity issues and subordinated term debt and capital hy-
brids, were the most frequent procedures. Bank management certificates were issued to
17 persons. EU Member States’ credit institutions sent 35 notifications to the Banking Su-
pervision Department, bringing their number to 128 by the end of the first half of 2008.
Two procedures to open Member State bank branches were launched (the Bank Leumi of
Romania and the Regional Investment Bank of Latvia) but operations have yet to start.

Intensive bank lending brought reports of capital shortfalls caused by inadequate
credit portfolio and capital management. Warnings and flexible constraints helped remove
breaches rapidly.

Between January and June 2008 the on-site supervision strategy entailed 11 full and
two target supervisory inspections. They analyzed and assessed risks, risk control and
management, and supervisory framework observance. Assessing institutions’ risk profiles
involved CAMELOS criteria.

Two banks raised their CAMELOS complex ratings, seven retained theirs, and two
had ratings reduced.
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Special
Supervision

Inspectors found 44 formal breaches of banking legislation and supervisory regula-
tions. Most breaches involved risk exposure evaluation and classification, breaches of re-
quirements to disclose large exposures, improper reporting of lower than actual amounts,
undeclared relatedness between large borrowers, and incorrect valuation of high-liquid
security (mortgages) in calculating exposure recoverable values.

Recommendations to inspected banks’ managements numbered 102. Most ad-
dressed better credit risk management, correct loan reporting and provisioning to regula-
tory requirements, improved credit concentration identification, particularly where there
may be informal or indirect relatedness between borrowers and shareholders. Many rec-
ommendations address operational, market and liquidity risk management and internal
control systems. Others involve improving reporting in accordance with bank regulations
updating banks’ internal rules.

Between January and June 2008 cooperation with the foreign supervisors of Bulgar-
ian banks’ parents intensified. Work with Austria’s Financial Market Authority (the FMA),
the Hungarian Financial Supervisory Authority (the PSZAF), and the French Commission
Bancaire was most intensive.

Buoyant credit growth and continued international financial market troubles boosted
the importance of continuous banking monitoring through off-site methods. Between Janu-
ary and June the focus was on credit institution risk, dynamics, and management. Thor-
ough analysis of increased risk areas in banking formed a part of preventive measures for
maintaining national financial stability.

After verification of regular financial reports, indicators were generated to analyze
risk profiles on an individual or group basis to various criteria. The status and trends of the
banking sector were analyzed in quarterly reports.

In accordance with the BNB strategy of active public communication, monthly press
releases were issued alongside quarterly summaries of analytical reports on banking.
They supplemented the range of financial supervisory data published by the BNB on pa-
per and in electronic formats.

Surveys among credit institutions comprised a way to deepen off-site supervision.
They canvassed banks’ opinions in two questionnaires: Diversification of Banks’ Earnings
and Major Bank Risks. The results were summarized and analyzed. Information exchange
in supervision intensified. With regard to Bulgaria’s EU membership, analytical texts and
statistical data on Bulgarian banking were prepared for the ECB Structural Issues Report
towards the EU bank development chapter.

Over the review period the ECB was also provided with 2007 annual data on
Bulgaria’s credit institutions, collated to enable comparisons with Member States, as re-
quired.

In addition to meetings and information sharing with supervisory authorities, full par-
ticipation in surveys and projects by international institutions such as the ECB, EBRD, and
IMF attained greater importance. Statistical series of data to IMF format and methodology
were prepared for a Financial Sector Assessment Program (FSAP) assessment of Bulgar-
ian banking stability in June.

In 2008 work on the Single Data Depository/Banking Supervision Reports project
continued, external contractors being engaged. Funds were allocated for the Central
Credit Register Improvement and Development project launched in 2007.

The soundness and transparency of credit institutions shareholder structures is an
important condition for smooth banking system operation. Supervisory efforts in this direc-
tion attained a clear picture of direct and indirect bank equity holders, in-depth assess-
ments of their finances, and precise assessments of individual equity holders’ ability to
support capital.

Over the review period consistent measures were applied against money laundering
and terrorist financing. Banks and finance houses adhered to international standards on
counteracting money laundering and implemented effective procedures and policies to
minimize the risk of transferring funds of unclear or criminal origin. The joint Bulgarian and
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US financial fraud group also worked actively. The BNB’s contribution to preventing the
involvement of credit and financial institutions in financial crime and money laundering
was appreciated in the Bulgaria report by the Council of Europe MONEYVAL Committee.
Experience gained allowed expert assistance to be rendered through the European Com-
mission Directorate-General for Enlargement Technical Assistance and Information Ex-
change (TAIEX), promoting the risk-based approach in supervisory inspections. Regular
contacts were established with institutions fighting fraud and money laundering under EC
assessment report guidelines. Under established good practice for assistance, expert
help was provided to law enforcers in individual cases involving analyses of illegal trade
operations.

Under commitments to the Committee of European Banking Supervisors (CEBS) and
the EC Committee on the Prevention of Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing, the
Special Supervision Directorate drafted opinions on bank transfer information in and out of
the Community, the legal framework of Member States’ cash regimes, and information
exchange on suspect operations and customers within bank groups.

Efforts were made to converge and improve supervisory practice on strengthening
corporate management. To this end, at World Bank request, applied corporate manage-
ment practice was studied and a survey of legal approaches by banks in their customer
work was conducted with the assistance of the CEBS Working Group on the Anti-Money
Laundering Task Force (AMLTF).

Inspections at banks as custodians were conducted jointly with the Financial Super-
vision Commission.

Legal entities conducting unlicensed bank transactions were inspected. The Su-
preme Cassation Prosecutor’s Office was advised of breaches.

Efforts were directed at ensuring compliance with the Currency Law and its enabling
instruments addressing banking and financial transparency. Special attention focused on
the requirement to disclose direct investments and financial loans and cash margin-based
foreign currency trading.

The increasing supply of financial services by institutions prompted a study of Com-
munity regulatory regimes and proposals to improve the national legal framework.
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The Central Credit RegisterVII.
The Central Credit Register (the CCR) kept and developed by the BNB provides in-

formation to banks and their financial subsidiaries on customers’ debt to the banking sys-
tem. CCR business is regulated by BNB Ordinance No 22 on the Central Credit Register
of Banks. The Register covers data on all loans disbursed by institution irrespective of
amount, except debit card overdrafts of up to BGN 1000 (provided they are classified as
standard), loans to government, and loans to the BNB. Interbank lending is not covered.
The system ensures reliable information submission and storage. Financial institutions
participating in the CCR exchange data with the Register online. Authorized officers ac-
cess the system via digital certificates.

In 2007 the Register’s scope was expanded to include loans by institutions’ subsid-
iaries, which may now access Register data through parent banks.

By the end of June 2008 the CCR registered 3,020,586 loans (against 2,698,093 at
the end of 2007) with a balance sheet exposure of BGN 44,879 million (against
BGN 37,434 million at the end of 2007). Borrowers numbered 1,742,915 (1,622,797 at the
end of 2007) of whom 1,648,306 individuals, 91,266 resident legal entities and 3343 non-
resident legal entities, compared to 1,540,666; 79,438 and 2693 respectively at the end
of 2007.

Banks conducted 2,558,000 CCR debt checks over the review period. Debt checks
in the same period of 2007 totaled 1,805,000. Of the total, 1,955,000 were on individuals
and 603,000 on resident legal entities. The monthly average number of certificates was
426,000 or about 21,000 a business day, compared with the first six months of 2007 when
it was 15,000. The growing number of CCR certificates indicates the reliability of informa-
tion and its growing importance in managing banks’ credit portfolios.
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VIII. The Fiscal Agent and Official Depository Function

The Bulgarian National Bank is the government’s fiscal agent and official depository.
Under contracts negotiated with the Ministry of Finance under market conditions and at
market prices, the BNB periodically collects and submits to that Ministry information on
budget entities’ accounts with domestic banks and acts as the government’s debt agent.

In line with European requirements for institutional and financial independence the
BNB in its capacity as a government agent continually develops and improves its sys-
tems:  the electronic system for budget and fiscal reserve information servicing, the AS
ROAD automated system for registering and servicing external debt, the GSAS system for
conducting auctions and sale subscriptions of government securities, the ESROT elec-
tronic system for registering and servicing government securities trading, the GSSS gov-
ernment securities settlement system and the Register of Pledges.

In the first half of 2008 the BNB collected BGN 659,700 in fees and commissions for
its fiscal agency and government securities market services, including BGN 393,000 from
agreements with the Ministry of Finance against BGN 378,000 on the corresponding pe-
riod of 2007. This increase reflected the changes in the total amount and in services
prices from the beginning of 2008, and BNB duties related to the systems’ maintenance.

Under Article 43 of the Law on the BNB and standing joint instructions by the Minis-
ter of Finance and the BNB Governor, daily and other regular information on operations
and balances on the budget of budget entities servicing banks, extra budgetary, deposit,
suspense, and letter-of-credit accounts in levs and other currencies was regularly gath-
ered, processed and submitted to the MF via the electronic system for budget and fiscal
reserve information servicing. The total balances on these accounts came to
BGN 11,652,300 by the end of June of which BGN 9,164,900 were with the BNB. By com-
parison, the total balances on budget entities’ accounts with servicing banks came to
BGN 8,067,600 on 30 June 2007 of which BGN 6,260,200 were with the BNB. Similar
trends obtained in balances on cash accounts in the fiscal reserve: by the end of June
2008 their amount was BGN 9943.9 million23 (BGN 6731.3 million at the end of June
2007), of which BGN 8882.8 million on accounts with the BNB (BGN 6027.2 million at the
end of June 2007).

In the first half of 2008 information on the budget and the fiscal reserve entered in
2007 continued to be gathered at MF request to manage and control consolidated fiscal
programme revenue and spending. Total report forms numbered 361, of which 212 on the
budget and 149 on the fiscal reserve. The number of first level budget spending entities
whose quarterly reports were certified by the BNB increased.

Over the review period the AS ROAD system registered the Bulgarian government’s
foreign financial obligations, on which the BNB acted as calculating and paying agent.
Payments numbered 17 and came to EUR 150.9 million, comprising EUR 37.2 million prin-
cipal and EUR 113.7 million interest. Operations on advance repayment of obligations to
the Japanese Bank for International Cooperation to the amount of JPY 4579.7 million and
to the World Bank to the amount of EUR 264.1 million and USD 12.7 million were con-
ducted. By the end of June 2008, the total amount of the obligations registered in the sys-
tem came to EUR 2340.5 million24.

Information
Service

23 Balances on foreign currency accounts are recalculated in the respective currency at the BNB exchange rate for 30 June
2008.

24 The total was recalculated in euro at the BNB rate for 30 June 2008.
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MF-scheduled auctions in the first half of 2008 for the sale of three-month, five-year,
and ten-year government securities nominally worth BGN 200 million, were held via the
GSAS system. Demand significantly exceeded supply, with a 2.49 average bid-to-cover
ratio. Of the 81 average primary dealers’ bids per auction, 31 were approved. The aver-
age annual yield of three-month, five-year and ten-year issues reached at the auctions
was as follows: 4.12 per cent, 5.20 per cent and 5.04 per cent respectively.

Over the review period the ESROT electronic system for registering and servicing
government securities trading registered principal and interest payments of BGN 353.5
million at maturity date25. The total of initial acquisition operations in government securi-
ties, principal and interest repayment on maturing securities and reverse repurchases di-
rectly from individuals came to BGN 553.6 million against BGN 683.8 million on the cor-
responding period of the prior year. In the first half of 2008 government securities trans-
actions in the secondary market numbered 8769 against 3466 in the same period of 2007
(an increase of 153.0 per cent). The aggregate nominal value of government securities
that were the subject of the transactions was BGN 42,811.3 million26 against BGN 9799.3
million on the corresponding year (up by 336.9 per cent). Repo agreements had the larg-
est share (59.4 per cent), followed by blocking and unblocking of government securities
(28.9 per cent), outright purchases and sales (6.0 per cent), and transactions with and on
behalf of customers (5.7 per cent).

The relatively large amount of government securities blocking and unblocking trans-
actions reflected the high levels of budget funds with banks which (under § 26 of the Tran-
sitional and Final Provisions of the Republic of Bulgaria 2008 State Budget Law and Min-
ister of Finance and BNB Governor instructions) had to secure these funds by blocking
domestic and external debt government securities held in favour of the MF. Between
January and June 2008 the average daily amount of the balances on budget entities’ ac-
count with banks was BGN 2374.2 million (BGN 1686 million in the same period of 2007),
while average daily nominals of blocked domestic government securities were
BGN 1247.9 million, EUR 137.9 million, and USD 47.8 million, and foreign government se-
curities (including EIB Eurobond issues) were BGN 209.0 million, EUR 172.8 million, and
USD 218.4 million.

At the request of the Ministry of Finance a spot inspection followed findings of insuf-
ficient government securities collaterals on accounts, deposits and letters of credit with
servicing banks. The main conclusion was that the foreign government securities shortage
in the market made it difficult for certain budget servicing banks to obtain the securities
required by § 26 of the Republic of Bulgaria 2008 State Budget Law. Procedures for cash
collaterals on budget entities’ accounts with servicing banks were revised. As a result, the
BNB proposed to the MF to review its policy on backing budget funds and conduct con-
sultations on alternative guarantee mechanisms.

Over the review period BGN 70.6 million27 worth of pledges and removal of pledges
on government securities were listed into the Register of Pledges: an increase of 50 per
cent on the corresponding period of 2007.

By the end of June 2008 accounts kept with the government securities settlement
system came to 2040, including 56 for government securities of the issuer (the MF), 803
for participants’ own government securities portfolios, 705 for government securities par-
ticipants’ customers, and 476 for encumbered government securities. Government secu-
rities on these accounts totaled BGN 3119.8 million in nominal value.

Servicing
Government

Securities
Trading

25 The lev equivalent of foreign currency denominated government securities issues was calculated at the BNB rate on the
date of payment.

26 The lev equivalent of foreign currency denominated government securities transactions was calculated at the BNB rate
on the date of the transacion.

27 The lev equivalent of foreign currency denominated government securities recorded in the Central Register of Pledges
was calculated at the BNB rate on the date of entry.
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Over the review period efforts were focused on system development prospects
within the context of the European initiatives related to updating financial market infra-
structure: CPSS-IOSCO/ESCB-CESR recommendations and standards on securities settle-
ment systems and their use in Eurosystem credit operations; Giovannini barriers to cross-
border clearing and settlement; the European Code of Conduct for Clearing and Settle-
ment; and the ECB’s TARGET2-Securities project. Systems also developed in line with the
Strategy for BNB Development between 2004 and 2009 and the Ministry of Finance Debt
Management Strategy for the 2006 to 2008 period.

As a result of the findings and recommendations made on the basis of the IT audit
of the ESROT electronic system for registering and servicing government securities trad-
ing conducted in 2007, and of the conclusions and recommendations made during the
development of the BNB operational risk management system, development of new
functionalities to optimize business continuity between the ESROT and the other systems
servicing the government securities depository, namely the GSSS and the Register of
Pledges was assigned.

Given the key significance of the ECB TARGET2 Securities project and pursuant to
a decision by the National Payment Systems Committee, a new Advisory Group on the
participation of the Bulgarian Government Securities Settlement System in the European
securities settlement structures with representatives of the BNB, the Ministry of Finance
and government securities market participants was set up in the beginning of 2008. Fur-
ther to public consultations on user requirements between 18 December 2007 and 2 April
2008, a report on the impact of business, administrative, technical and legal aspects of
these requirements on the BNB government securities settlement and registration system
was submitted by the operator and approved. The review showed that the principles and
the systems’ functionalities largely coincide with those of the TARGET2 Securities (T2S).
As regards functionalities which were not technically and legally regulated, the report out-
lined fields in which further efforts were needed and an action plan was approved speci-
fying each member’s objectives in accordance with their competences.

At the end of May 2008 the ECB Governing Council invited all EU Member States’
central securities depositories (CSDs) to join the T2S initiative (irrespective of euro area
membership). The proposal was published on ECB’s official website and comprised a
description of T2S Governance for the specification phase, detailed T2S user require-
ments, economic impact analysis, a legal assessment of T2S and a presentation on har-
monized efforts in the context of T2S. CSDs outside the euro area were invited to advise
the ECB whether they intend to join T2S after coordinating their positions with market par-
ticipants, government securities issuers and NCBs by the end of the review year.

In accordance with the new mandate of the Consultative Group of Budget Payments
consultations on ensuring budget payments information when using SEPA payment docu-
ments in the public sector continued.

System
Development
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The BNB Governor is a member of the ECB General Council and participates in its
meetings along with central bank governors from all EU Member States and the President
and Vice-President of the ECB. Two regular and one ad hoc meetings were held to ap-
prove the ECB’s regular Convergence Report for 2008 on euro area accession criteria.
The Council discussed issues related to the macroeconomic and monetary developments,
participation in the Exchange Rate Mechanism II, national central bank compliance with
Articles 101 and 102 of the EC Treaty, and sundry other matters.

BNB representatives took part in 12 ESCB committees, 31 working groups, and the
Human Resource Conference. Through representatives in ESCB bodies, committees and
working groups, the Bank participates in coordinating monetary policy, contributes to pre-
paring ECB legal instruments, forming and developing banking infrastructure, payment
and settlement systems, statistical reporting and discussions on other central banking is-
sues.

EU Member States have to consult the ECB in writing on legislative bills within its
competence. This obligation refers to the BNB and various government offices in Bulgaria.
Over the review period BNB consulted ECB on the draft amendments to the Law on Sta-
tistics.

The BNB Governor participates twice annually in informal ECOFIN meetings. The
April 2008 informal ECOFIN meeting held in Ljubljana focused on the assessment of the
economic environment and risks to price stability in the European Union and on appropri-
ate responses. Fulfillment of commitments under the October to December 2007 ECOFIN
Roadmaps in response to financial market turbulence and related to the financial stability
framework and the Lamfalussy Process were reviewed and willingness to implement these
actions was reaffirmed. Agreement was reached on action to improve the framework for
financial stability and on key banking supervision issues. Improving the quality of public
finance and the efficiency of public expenditure for social transfers and the effectiveness
of European securities clearing and settlement infrastructures with regard to the Code of
Conduct and removing tax and legal barriers to integrating securities markets were
among other issues discussed.

BNB representatives sat on regular Economic and Finance Committee (EFC) meet-
ings. Discussions on EU economic and financial developments, ECOFIN annual assess-
ments of Member State stability and convergence, and Bulgaria’s Convergence
Programme for the 2007 to 2010 period, were of great importance. ECOFIN assessments
adopted in March 2008 stressed that fiscal targets were realistic and aimed at sound me-
dium term budgetary positions.

By participating in the Financial Services Committee, the Bank contributed to EU
policy making on the Strategy for an Integrated European Market for Financial Services for
the 2005 to 2010 period, to establishing a single and effective EU payment system, and
to improving the financial stability framework at EU level and supervisory practice conver-
gence.

BNB representatives on the Committee of European Banking Supervisors and its
working groups took part in supervisory practice convergence by helping develop new
practices, instructions, and forms. Participation in such fora helps develop new European
law and guidelines.

BNB representatives took part in European Union Council and Commission working
groups discussions on transposing Directive 2007/64/ЕC on Payment Services and the
amendments of Directive 98/26/EC on Settlement Finality in Payment and Securities Settle-
ment Systems, Directive 2002/47/EC on Financial Collateral Arrangements, Directive
2006/49/EC on the Capital Adequacy of Investment Firms and Credit Institutions and Di-

IX. International Relations and Participation
in the ESCB

Participation
in the

European
System of

Central
Banks

Participation in
ECOFIN

Meetings,
Council and

Commission
Committees and
Working Groups
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28 Denmark and the United Kingdom have not been assessed in convergence reports as they have not requested to launch
the single currency and have special opt-out clauses in their accession treaties. The reports assessed progress by Bul-
garia and Romania for the first time.

Convergence
Reports

Ten years of
Economic

and
Monetary

Union

rective 2006/48/EC Relating to the Taking-up and Pursuit of the Business of Credit Institu-
tions. The Bank was involved in formulating national positions on dispute settlement in re-
tail finance and financial education.

BNB representatives sat on working groups formulating Bulgarian positions on Eco-
nomic and Monetary Union, financial services, statistics, and EU enlargement. The Bank’s
representative on the Council for European Affairs helped formulate national policy on is-
sues discussed in EU fora. The Bank gave expert advice and facilitated the formulation of
national positions in payment systems, banking services, supervisory practice, financial
stability and fulfillment of commitments under October 2007 ECOFIN financial stability
roadmap.

At the invitation of the Governor, the Bank hosted the 125th meeting of the Council
for European Affairs where the BNB presented its experience of effective participation in
the ESCB and in Commission and Council committees and working groups. Members of
the Council for European Affairs learned of the regulatory framework for internal coordina-
tion in briefing BNB representatives for meetings and of the Document Management Sys-
tem.

Under the policy of coordinating offices of state and improving awareness of Euro-
pean issues, the BNB Governor and Deputy Governors hosted a meeting with Bulgarian
Members of the European Parliament. A significant part of that Parliament’s attention fo-
cuses on finance and the economy and coordination between Bulgarian offices compe-
tent in these areas and MEPs helps Bulgarian effectiveness in EU decision making. Dis-
cussions focused on Economic and Monetary Union, forthcoming European regulatory
changes and Bulgarian positions on the internal market in financial services, financial sec-
tor supervision and consumer protection in financial and payment services.

The two regular convergence reports of the European Central Bank and the Euro-
pean Commission published on 7 May 2008 assessed EU Member States not yet in the
euro area (Member States with derogation): Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Latvia,
Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, and Sweden28.

Both reports examined compatibility of national legislations and the national central
banks with the Treaty Establishing the European Community (TEC) and the Protocol and
Statute of the ESCB and the ECB, together with progress by Member States with deroga-
tion to fulfillment of nominal convergence criteria. Based on the assessment of Slovakia,
on 8 July 2008 the ECOFIN Council allowed that nation to introduce the euro on 1 Janu-
ary 2009.

May 2008 saw the tenth anniversary of the decision to launch the euro as the single
currency. To mark the occasion the European Commission published an analytical report,
EMU@10: Successes and Challenges after Ten Years of Economic and Monetary Union.
The report discusses EMU’s role in macroeconomic stability, financial integration, and in-
vestment in EU Member States, reviews the euro’s first ten years as the single European
currency and outlines the targets and challenges of euro area enlargement.

The BNB backed the European Commission’s proposed debate on the EMU’s future.
Discussions on the Commission’s proposals will continue into the second half of 2008 with
a view to reaching consensus on the programme.

The Bank took the opportunity to raise public awareness on EMU and single cur-
rency issues by translating and publishing the special 10th anniversary of the ECB edition
of the ECB Monthly Bulletin, which also looks at the challenges of the second decade.
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International
Relations

The Bank contributed to the update of the 59th issue of the IMF Annual Report on
Exchange Arrangements and Exchange Restrictions and helped establish an IMF central
banks statutory database. This will offer IMF member states access to the national legis-
lations of other IMF countries for comparative analyses or searches for legal texts by set
criteria or by country.

The BNB actively participates in the meetings of the IMF Economic and Financial
Committee subcommittee on IMF-related questions (SCIMF). In April, having settled a
Bulgarian position with the Ministry of Finance, the BNB Governor backed the IMF Board
of Governors’ Resolution on Quota and Voice Reforms and on broadening of the Fund’s
investment authority. The quota and voice reform aimed at better representation of the
relative weights of member countries in the world economy and at enhancing the voice
and participation of low-income members. Restructuring the IMF’s funding mechanism
resulted from the need for a new budgetary framework ensuring Fund independence and
enabling it to fulfill its objectives. The new framework restructures the IMF income model
by broadening Fund investment authority.

The IMF Dutch Group, of which Bulgaria is a member, and the World Bank held their
regular meeting in early June. The Bulgarian delegation headed by the BNB Governor met
IMF Managing Director Dominique Strauss-Kahn and stated that prudent fiscal policy,
macroeconomic stability and further structural reforms were the nation’s key objectives
after EU accession.

The BNB Governor attended the bimonthly meetings of BIS central bank Governors:
a major forum for cooperation between member central banks and for discussion on the
world economy, financial markets, and the challenges of globalization to central banking.
The BNB Governor sat on the BIS Annual General Meeting in late June 2008. During the
meeting the BIS Board of Governors declared a dividend of SDR 144.7 million (SDR 265
per share) for participating central banks. The BNB’s dividend of SDR 2,120,000.00 for its
8000 shares was received on 3 July 2008.

The Bank took part in negotiating the new EBRD strategy for Bulgaria for 2008 and
2009 which was approved by the EBRD Board of Governors on 28 May 2008. A Bulgar-
ian delegation led by the Banking Department Deputy Governor sat on the EBRD Annual
Meeting on 17 to 20 May 2008 in Kiev. The Deputy Governor presented EBRD policy and
activities in Bulgaria and cooperation perspectives. The EBRD Board approved the au-
dited financial statements, the distribution of net income, and the selection of Thomas
Mirow, State Secretary at the German Ministry of Finance, as EBRD President for the next
four years.

In late 2007 the General Manager of the Bank for International Settlements in Basel
as Trustee of the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) Foundation invited
the BNB to join that Foundation. Central bank participation in this initiative sends an impor-
tant signal to the banking and financial community. The BNB committed to financing the
IASC Foundation by USD 8500 for three years, transferring the dues for 2008 in February.

The twinning project to prepare the BNB to ESCB and Eurosystem membership with
the Banque de France, De Nederlandsche Bank, and the Banca d’Italia continued. Three
components (economic research and analysis, risk management and balance of pay-
ments statistics) are complete and results on the remaining nine are positive. Work on
payments systems, banking supervision, cash operation management, and financial mar-
kets will continue until the project’s end on 2 October 2008.

Fruitful bilateral cooperation with the Deutsche Bundesbank continued. Experience
on non-genuine banknotes and fighting money counterfeiting was exchanged.

Increased BNB capacity enabled technical assistance to neighbouring countries’
central banks to continue. Experience was exchanged and fruitful meetings held with ex-
perts from the central bank and the Ministry of Finance of Bosnia and Herzegovina to ad-
dress methods and approaches used in fiscal policy forecasting and analysis.
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StatisticsX.
Over the review period the BNB began publishing more detailed interest statistics in

accordance with Regulation ECB/2001/18 concerning statistics on interest rates applied
by monetary financial institutions to deposits and loans vis-а-vis households and non-fi-
nancial corporations. Interest rate statistics is now a database of 953 indicators (against
251 indicators before). Among the new indicators are annual percentage rate of charge
on consumer and housing loans, interest rates and volumes of outstanding amounts on
deposits with agreed maturity and loans other than overdrafts; interest rates and volumes
of new business by period of initial fixation.

Under commitments to the ECB the Bank also published data on other financial in-
stitutions, including lease companies, institutions which extend loans, financial vehicle
corporations for securitization of receivables, investment funds, insurance companies and
pension funds. The ECB also received historical series with geographical and currency
breakdowns of balance sheet data on monetary financial institutions between 31 Decem-
ber 2006 and 30 June 2007. A new agreement between the BNB and banks preserved the
detailed publishing of BNB data on monetary and interest rate statistics while adhering to
Article 8 of Council Regulation (EC) No 2533/98 concerning the collection of statistical in-
formation by the European Central Bank and Article 25 of the Law on Statistics.

Since early 2008 the BNB has published quarterly information on investment funds
in Bulgaria under Regulation ECB/958/2007 concerning statistics on the assets and liabili-
ties of investment funds. The Bank also started reporting on pension funds and insurance
companies in accordance with its own methodology. Work continued on a statistical meth-
odology for special investment purpose companies specializing in estate securitization.

In March 2008, balance of payments data with geographical breakdowns began to
be reported to the ECB. Bank reporting for balance of payments statistics improved. Work
is underway on a project to allow non-bank institutions to submit balance of payments sta-
tistics electronically.

Random sample border surveys of Bulgarian and foreign nationals continued with a
view to improving the methodology for reporting data on travel and other balance of pay-
ments items.

Work on a methodology for complete direct reporting of economic agent data for
balance of payments and international investment position figures continued.

In cooperation with the ECB, the BNB continued active support for the Centralized
Securities Database project, and launched the development of a Bulgarian securities da-
tabase.

In the first half of 2008 the BNB continued reporting the quarterly financial accounts
of the General Government sector to ECB and EUROSTAT under European Parliament
and Council Regulation 501/2004.

The BNB joined the BIS Data Bank over the review period. Regular submission of
data series required by the BIS continued.

An agreement on cooperation and information exchange between the Bank and the
National Statistical Institute was drafted. In cooperation with the NSI, the Bank continued
to send the ECB information on macroeconomic indicators and supplementary method-
ological data on administratively set prices in HICP. Regular data updates and metadata
certification under the Special Data Dissemination Standard were made to IMF method-
ological requirements and to a set calendar.

Terms of reference for the integrated statistics system project were drafted during
the review period.

Statistics
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Economic research, analyses of Bulgarian economic processes and macroeco-
nomic forecasts support the Bank’s management in decision making and economic
policymaking. In 2008 research reflected the BNB priorities of successful participation in
the ESCB. Work focused on improving assessments of nominal and real convergence and
on developing macroeconomic models for forecasting.

Specialized research under the Research Plan for the 2007 to 2008 Period sup-
ported BNB operations by analyzing individual economic processes and issues and im-
proving forecasting and modeling tools. The review period saw research and modeling on
forecasting tools, price dynamics, Bulgarian competitiveness, financial integration and the
transmission mechanism, the long-term sustainability of public finance and long-term in-
terest rates. The impact of macroeconomic factors on banking was analyzed. Research
results were published in technical reports and presented at seminars held by the BNB for
banking experts and academics.

In February 2008 an IMF technical mission helped the BNB use dynamic stochastic
general equilibrium models. The experts reviewed progress, consulted the BNB on mod-
eling specific issues and outlined future goals.

The first half of 2008 saw testing and honing of the new basic model for improving
BNB macroeconometric forecasting. The technical documentation to the model was im-
proved in the light of recommendations by experts from De Nederlandsche Bank and the
IMF.

In April 2008 the BNB hosted a seminar on EU central bank forecasting models and
procedures. The workshop brought together the ECB, the Banque de France, the Banka
d’Italia, the Latvijas Banka, the Lietuvos Bankas, the Magyar Nemzeti Bank, the Central
Bank of Malta, De Nederlandsche Bank, the Narodowy Bank Polski, the Banca Nationala
a Romaniei, the Narodna banka Slovenska, the Agency for Economic Analysis and Fore-
casts, the Ministry of Finance, the Bulgarian Academy of Science, the University of Sofia,
the National Social Security Institute and NGOs29.

The Guest Researcher Programme supports BNB research and helps establish fruit-
ful cooperation with experts from Bulgaria and abroad on subjects of interest to the BNB.
In the first half of 2008 three guest researchers worked on modeling the labour market, es-
timating the size and scope of the grey economy and establishing the ratio between inside
and outside money in the early years of the Bulgarian monetary system (1879 to 1912).

Through its Discussion Papers research series, the BNB continued to encourage the
research potential of Bulgarian economic science and practice in macroeconomics, fi-
nance and economic history. Since the beginning of 2008 the Discussion Papers Editorial
Board reviewed seven submissions of which five were published (three in the Macroeco-
nomics and Finance section and two in the Economic History section).

ResearchXI.

29 The workshop was part of the Twinning Project between the BNB and the Banque de France, De Nederlandsche Bank
and the Banca d’Italia.
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Developing and updating information systems is a key BNB priority. Several big
projects were implemented over the review period. On 2 June 2008 the BNB launched the
core banking information system which combines the SAP, SOFI and CMS systems. A
large scale project launching SAP ERP, SAP Banking and the new versions of SOFI and
CMS was completed, while the CIBAM module of the TREMA Finance Kit system was
started.

The payment systems twinning project with the Banca d’Italia which prepared the
banking community for TARGET2 and SEPA practices was completed. A seminar on Busi-
ness Continuity was held as part of the project at the initiative of the Information Systems
Directorate. Work on the project on evaluating IT risk to joint ECB and Banque de France
methodology was completed.

A new version of the system for balance of payments statistics was launched in April
2008. A new facility of the electronic system for registering and servicing securities trad-
ing (ESROT) enables automated transfer of currency payment orders to the Treasury Di-
rectorate.

Over the review period new BNB centres were opened at Burgas, Pleven, Plovdiv,
Sofia and Varna. A new communications network was built and communications equip-
ment and software were updated. Voice communication updating continued, with free
calls between fixed and mobile BNB phones launched.

The BNB IT Security Committee developed and approved rules and procedures on
Portable Data Storage Device Use and Destruction and IT Security System Risk Manage-
ment.

More than 90 per cent of obsolete personal computers have been replaced.

Information InfrastructureXII.
Inform

ation Infrastructure
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Source: BNB.

Staff Structure
(as of 30 June of corresponding year) (number, per cent)

XIII. Human Resources Management

Improving personnel qualifications and professionalism and boosting efficiency in
implementing European standards and the modernization of the BNB is a human resource
management priority. Pursuing it, the BNB strives to attract qualified staff to tight job de-
scriptions, to remunerate in line with concrete attainments, to encourage mobility and
boost the wish to train and develop. Implementing this policy helped the BNB in duties
associated with Bulgarian EU membership and the Bank’s ESCB membership.

The charts show that the proportion of graduates increased on 2007. This corre-
sponds to the Bank’s need for an increasing number of analysts. Changes in staff age pro-
file reflected evolution in some BNB duties.

In late April 2008 the receipt, storage and supply of cash was taken over by the
Cash Services Company, which also took over a number of Bank staff. The Governing
Council accordingly cut the establishment from 1007 to 963, with 845 on strength at the
close of June 2008. The staff moved across to the Cash Services Company with no ten-
sions and as planned by the Governing Council. While they changed employers, their em-
ployment rights were preserved.

In the first half of 2008 internal and external staff mobility was further encouraged.
The movement of employees between units became a common practice. This boosted
staff expertise and intensified the exchange of knowledge and experience within the
Bank. By June 2008, 26 employees had changed structural units.

External mobility, mostly to the ECB and EU bodies, has also been active. March
and April 2008 saw a staff swap between the BNB Internal Audit Department and the Bel-
gian Central Bank, with employees of both institutions given the opportunity to get ac-
quainted with information technologies and processes and analyze information. Over the
review period five BNB employees took on short-term appointments at the ECB.
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Qualification and skill improvement continued to be a priority in BNB human re-
source management. In the first half of 2008, 15 employees boosted their educational at-
tainments without discontinuing work by reading for doctors’, masters’, bachelors’ and
specialist degrees, against 32 in 2006 and 2007. Sixteen employees went on distance
learning courses, with seven on International Banking Institute ones, four on the CFA
Institute’s Certified Financial Analysts programme, two on the Institute of Internal Auditors’
Certified Internal Auditors program, and one on the CISСO Academy’s Sofia Technical
University certification programme. Sixty-three staff attended short-term courses and
seminars on specific current problems. In the first half of 2008, 51 employees took part in
seminars and courses ran by foreign institutions like the International Monetary Fund, the
Joint Vienna Institute, and the central banks of the United Kingdom, France, and Ger-
many. A number of information technology courses addressed infrastructure, system
maintenance, and upgrading, and new applications. Employees continued improving their
language skills, with 86 attending English, German, French, Italian courses.

The BNB continued striving to attract young people from Bulgarian and foreign uni-
versities. Sound relationships emerged with a number of career centers at prestigious
Bulgarian and foreign universities.

To improve the recruitment of qualified employees and trainees, in March 2008 the
BNB took a stand at the Career 2008 student training and career forum, distributing infor-
mation and showing multimedia presentations. Some 270 students called on the stand
over the two days of the forum, finding the traineeship programme, scholarships and jobs
on offer most attractive.
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 The BNB mainly trades from owned premises and properties. This provides the de-
gree of independence, security and protection required of a central bank. No properties
were acquired or disposed of in the first half of 2008. The Bank let premises in Plovdiv,
Varna and Pleven to the new Cash Services Company AD established jointly with several
banks.

Property spending was mainly on implementing the investment programme in line
with the BNB annual budget and included construction, refurbishment and modernization,
deliveries and equipment, repairs, vehicles, supplying assets and cash processing
consumables, storing and using consumables and office materials at structural units, and
optimizing power, heating, and water use at the BNB Building in Sofia. In the first six
months of 2008 the implementation of BNB budgeted expenditure for 2008 was as follows:
building repairs at 31 per cent; heating and water supply at 41.14 per cent; power at
39.03 per cent; equipment maintenance at 31.34 per cent; new construction, refurbish-
ment and modernization at 48.00 per cent and machines and equipment at 69.20 per
cent. The construction, refurbishment and modernization items related entirely to the BNB
Cash Centre.

In May the BNB equipped a new computer room for the Department of European
Studies at the Sveti Kliment Ohridski University of Sofia.

Facilities ManagementXIV.
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Internal AuditXV.
Two audits were completed between January and June 2008: one under the annual

programme and the other under the ESCB Internal Auditor Committee annual programme.
Regional cash centres’ cash circulation functions were reviewed to assess readi-

ness to work with the Cash Services Company AD. Internal audit experts drew up con-
tracts and rules on joint BNB and Cash Services Company work.

Infrastructure and information system maintenance and use were assessed in line
with 2008 ESCB Internal Auditor Committee annual programme. The audit aimed to pro-
vide reasonable assurance on the adequacy and efficiency of risk management and con-
trol of problems and incidents in IT infrastructure and systems which service the
Eurosystem and the ESCB.

A pilot study under the ESCB Centralized Securities Database project addressed the
audit programme of the ECB Internal Auditors’ Committee Statistics Working Group.

Risk management training seminars were held. Work ended on the subcomponent of
the joint BNB/Banque de France operational risk management system project in which
BNB internal audit experts were actively involved.

Internal Audit
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Budget ImplementationXVI.
The BNB Budget was adopted by the BNB Governing Council under Resolution

No 122 of 8 November 2007. The Report on the Bank’s budget comprises two sections:
operational expenditure and the investment programme, pursuant to the BNB Governing
Council’s Internal Rules on Setting, Implementing, and Reporting the BNB Budget.

I. Operational Expenditure

During the first six months of 2008, the BNB spent BGN 34,534,000 or 41.0 per cent
of its budgeted figure on 2008 operations.

Over the reporting period currency circulation cost BGN 9,140,000: 68.8 per cent of
half-year projections or 37.0 per cent of the annual budget. Banknote and coin production
cost BGN 8,666,000 or 37.4 per cent of budget, including BGN 6,529,000 or 38.1 per cent
of budget on banknote printing. Coin minting cost BGN 2,138,000, of which BGN
1,745,000 on circulation. Commemorative coins cost BGN 393,000, in line with the BNB
Governing Council’s programme.

Funds went on designing new banknotes and coins, banknote and coin scrapping
and consumables. Machines servicing cash circulation cost BGN 104,000 or 51.0 per
cent of budget.

Renting premises at the BNB Printing Works, at the State Mint and at the Cash Ser-
vices Company cost BGN 258,000.

Materials, services, and depreciation spending totaled BGN 14,645,000 or 42.6 per
cent of budget. Of this, materials comprised BGN 397,000. Major expenditures in this
group comprised, inter alia, BGN 105,000 on inventories, BGN 115,000 on office materi-
als, and BGN 137,000 on fuel and spares for the BNB transport fleet.

Expenditure on hired services was BGN 6,178,000 or 73.2 per cent of semi-annual
budget. Mail, telephone and telex spend came to BGN 198,000, property and refuse col-
lection levies were BGN 763,000 and electric bills were BGN 180,000. More significant
items concerned Bloomberg, Reuters, web and other system provision at BGN 573,000.
Software maintenance came to BGN 1,084,000. Equipment maintenance was
BGN 332,000. The Bank spent BGN 1,003,000 on its security contract with the Ministry of
the Interior. Expenses on major building maintenance totaled BGN 601,000.

In the first half of 2008, BGN 160,000 or 43.6 per cent went on consultation services.
The latter comprised, inter alia, IT projects (BGN 114,000), legal services (BGN 3000) and
actuarial services.

Depreciation came to BGN 8,070,000 or 98.5 per cent of budget.
Payroll, social, and healthcare spending totaled BGN 9,440,000 or 49.0 per cent of

budget. In accordance with the requirements of IAS 19, Income of Hired Persons, the
Bank reported in its budget BGN 43,000 worth of current obligations to staff for retirement
and BGN 1,092,000 paid leave not taken up.

Social expenditure amounted to BGN 399,000 or 42.9 per cent of budgeted funds.
Miscellaneous administrative expenditure was BGN 480,000 or 45.0 per cent of the

semi-annual budget. Inland travel involved mainly cash logistics in regional cash centres
and checks there; it cost BGN 38,000.

Foreign travel covered participation in seminars and staff training. Expenditure on
foreign travel came to BGN 202,000 or 66.4 per cent of the semi-annual budget. Staff
training totaled BGN 132,000 and Bank representative and protocol expenses, BGN
91,000. BGN 112,000 was spent in the first half of 2008 on the BNB Staff Education and
Professional Training Programme. Of this, studying European banking practice and expe-
rience cost BGN 89,000, short courses on changes in Bulgarian legislation cost BGN
11,000 and foreign language learning cost BGN 9,000.
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Expenses related to joining the ESCB came to BGN 430,000. The cost of BNB rep-
resentatives’ participation in ESCB commissions and committees was BGN 229,000.
Spending on equipment for ESCB membership totaled BGN 14,000, while staff training to
that end cost BGN 178,000.

II. The Investment Programme

Budgeted investment funds totaled BGN 35,724,000, of which BGN 13,415,000 or
75.1 per cent were utilized during the first half of 2008.

During the first half of 2008, BGN 6,895,000 was spent on construction, vault rein-
forcement, technical designs and consultation services at the Cash Services Company.

During the first half of 2008, BGN 589,000 went on machines and equipment, ve-
hicles, and sundry equipment, of which BGN 230,000 on security equipment, access con-
trol to regional cash centers and fire alarms.

The Bank spent BGN 225,000 on office furniture and equipment including photo-
copiers, air-conditioners, furniture and carpeting.

Computerization cost BGN 5,931,000 of which BGN 1,506,000 for hardware and
BGN 4,425,000 for software.

Investment funds went mostly on implementing the BNB information and communi-
cations technology development strategy. The Core Banking Information System, a
project of major importance for the Bank, was launched in early June 2008. The CBIS
(SAP) compatibility section of the BNB Cash Reporting, Control and Management system
was completed, providing technologically upgraded cash services to customers. Improve-
ments were made to ESROT and the Human Resource, Labour and Payroll Management
System.

Hardware spending included BGN 987,000 on computer workstations and servers
and BGN 496,000 on communications. It affected both the planned upgrading of the
Bank’s central and regional information and technological infrastructure and strategic
projects such as CBIS.

Software spending included, inter alia, BGN 3,422,000, on changes to CBIS, BGN
299,000 on functional modifications to the SOFI accounting system, BGN 47,000 on
ESROT, BGN 327,000 on the Single Bank Data Depository upgrade and BGN 53,000 on
RINGS – MONTRAN modification.

By the end of June 2008 no investment was made into BNB membership in the
ESCB.

Implementation of the BNB Budget as of 30 June 2008

Report Budget Implemen-
Indicators 30 June 2008 2008 tation

(BGN’000) (BGN’000) (%)

Section I. BNB operational expenditureSection I. BNB operational expenditureSection I. BNB operational expenditureSection I. BNB operational expenditureSection I. BNB operational expenditure 34 53434 53434 53434 53434 534 84 24384 24384 24384 24384 243 41.041.041.041.041.0

Currency circulation expenditure 9 140 24 702 37.0

Materials, services and depreciation expenditure 14 645 34 385 42.6

Salaries and social security expenditure 9 440 19 268 49.0

Social activity expenditure 399 1 862 21.4

Other administrative expenditure 480 2 283 21.0

BNB expenditure on membership in ESCB 430 1 743 24.7

Section II. Investment programmeSection II. Investment programmeSection II. Investment programmeSection II. Investment programmeSection II. Investment programme 13 41513 41513 41513 41513 415 35 72435 72435 72435 72435 724 37.637.637.637.637.6

Expenditure on construction, reconstruction and modernization 6 895 14 300 48.1

Expenditure on acquiring machines, motor vehicles and other equipment 589 5 200 11.3

Expenditure on BNB computerization 5 931 15 822 37.5

Investment related to BNB membership in ESCB 0 372 0.0
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The Law on the Bulgarian National Bank requires the Governing Council of the
Bulgarian National Bank to prepare financial statements for each reporting period to
present the Bank’s financial position and performance for the period.

The financial statements of the Bulgarian National Bank approved by the Gov-
erning Council are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards adopted by the European Commission.

The Governing Council of the Bulgarian National Bank is responsible for main-
taining proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Bulgarian National Bank. It has overall responsibility
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to it to safeguard the assets of the Bul-
garian National Bank and to prevent or detect fraud and other irregularities.

Ivan Iskrov
Governor of the BNB

Statement of Responsibilities of the Governing Council
of the Bulgarian National Bank
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Consolidated Income Statement
as at 30 June 2008 (unaudited)

(BGN’000)

Note 30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Interest income 7 460,893 274,588

Interest expense 7 (133,920) (74,820)

Net interest income 326,973 199,768

Fee and commission income 4,516 4,257

Fee and commission expense (1,543) (2,524)

Net fee and commission income 2,973 1,733

Net gains/(losses) from financial assets and liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss 8 42,793 3,187

Other operating income 9 12,839 16,199

Other operating income 385,578 220,887

Administrative expenses 10 (44,120) (41,166)

Profit for the period 341,458 179,721

The accompanying notes on pages 63 to 81 form an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2008 (unaudited)
(BGN’000)

Note 30 June 2008 30 Dec. 2007

ASSETS

Cash and deposits in foreign currencies 11 3,343,959 3,507,981

Gold, instruments in gold, and other precious metals 12 1,500,595 1,432,666

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 13 21,089,774 18,356,669

Financial assets available for sale 14 1,343,985 1,391,586

Tangible assets 15 155,064 151,430

Intangible assets 16 15,245 14,935

Other assets 17 48,119 46,359

Total assets 27,496,741 24,901,626

LIABILITIES

Banknotes and coins in circulation 18 8,124,559 8,410,867

Due to banks and other financial institutions 19 5,918,315 5,783,538

Liabilities to government institutions and other liabilities 20 9,407,895 6,753,822

Liabilities against participations in international financial institutions 21 1,229,916 1,275,420

Other liabilities 22 100,486 45,750

Total liabilities 24,781,171 22,269,397

EQUITY

Capital 23 20,000 20,000

Reserves 23 2,692,119 2,608,836

Minority interest 24 3,451 3,393

Total equity and reserves 2,715,570 2,632,229

Total liabilities, equity and reserves 27,496,741 24,901,626

The accompanying notes on pages 63 to 81 form an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
as at 30 June 2008 (unaudited)

(BGN’000)

Note 30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Operating activities

Net profit 341,458 179,721
Adjustments for matching with the net cash flow
from operating activities
   Dividend income - (729)
   Depreciation 15, 16 11,130 7,799
   Profit/(loss) on disposal of tangible assets 9 188
   Gains on financial assets and liabilities arising
   from market movements (13,959) 5,305
   Other adjustments (7,483) (835)

Net cash flow from operating activities before changes
in operating assets and liabilities 331,155 191,449

Change in operating assets
    (Increase) in gold, instruments in gold
    and other precious metals (1,414) (438)
   (Increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (2,783,564) (857,397)
   Decrease in receivables from the Government - 500,783
   (Increase)/decrease in other assets 9,167 (4,366)

Change in operating liabilities

   Increase/(decrease) in currency in circulation (286,308) 95,690
   Increase/(decrease) in due to banks and other financial institutions 134,777 (470,904)
   Increase in due to government institutions and other liabilities 2,654,073 1,534,449
   (Decrease) in borrowings from international financial institutions - (500,783)
   Increase in other liabilities 54,736 101,194

Net cash flow from operating activities 112,622 589,677

Investing activities
   Purchase of tangible and intangible assets (15,083) (1,575)
   Dividends received - 729
   Increase in BNB’s equity investments - (8,739)

Net cash flow from investing activities (15,083) (9,585)

Financing activities

Payments to the Government (250,634) (170,630)

Net cash flow from financing activities (250,634) (170,630)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (153,095) 409,462

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 3,536,469 4,230,198

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 11, 17 3,383,374 4,639,660

The accompanying notes on pages 63 to 81 form an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
as at 30 June 2008

(BGN’000)

Minority       Revaluation reserves from: Other
Capital interest non-current monetary commemorative reserves Total

assets assets coins

Balance as at 30 June 2007 20,000 3,393 103,722 881,490 720 1,110,039 2,119,364

Transfer of unrealised gains on gold revaluation - - - 208,581 - - 208,581

Transfer of unrealised loss on revaluation
of foreign currency (net) - - - (2,818) - - (2,818)

Transfer of unrealised loss on revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (net) - - - 39,174 - - 39,174

Unrealised loss on revaluation of financial
assets available for sale - - (1,328) - - - (1,328)

Profit for the period after contribution to
revaluation reserves and minority interest - 35 - - - 182,116 182,116

Other special reserves - - - - - 87,000 87,000

Other transfers - (35) (576) - (119) 835 105

Balance as at 31 December 2007 20,000 3,393 101,818 1,126,427 601 1,379 990 2,632,229

Transfer of unrealised gains on gold revaluation - - - 66,515 - - 66,515

Transfer of unrealised loss on revaluation of
foreign currency (net) - - - (1,893) - - (1,893)

Transfer of unrealised loss on revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (net) - - - (50,459) - - (50,459)

Payment of the prior year contribution to the
budget of the Republic of Bulgaria - - - - - (250,634) (250,634)

Profit for the period after contribution to
revaluation reserves and minority interest - 58 - - - 327,236 327,294

Other transfers - - (38) 10,228 (105) (17,567) (7,482)

Balance as at 30 June 2008 20,000 3,451 101,780 1,150,818 496 1,439,025 2,715,570

The accompanying notes on pages 63 to 81 form an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Statute and principal activities
The Bulgarian National Bank (the ‘Bank’) is 100 per cent owned by the Republic of Bul-
garia.
The Bank is the central bank of the Republic of Bulgaria. The operation of the Bank is gov-
erned by the Law on the Bulgarian National Bank (LBNB), which has been effective from
10 June 1997.
Under this Law, the principal activities of the Bank may be summarised as:
• Maintaining price stability through ensuring national currency stability;
• Exclusive right to issue banknotes and coins;
• Regulation and supervision of other banks’ activities in the country with a view to bank-

ing system stability maintenance;
• Establishment and operation of efficient payment systems and their oversight;
• The Bank may not provide credit to the State or to state-owned institutions, other than

credit for purchase of Special Drawing Rights (SDR) from the International Monetary
Fund (IMF) in accordance with terms set by law;

• The Bank may not provide credit to banks except in the case of liquidity risk threaten-
ing to affect the stability of the banking system;

• The Bank may not deal in Bulgarian government securities;
• The Bank may not issue Bulgarian levs in excess of the Bulgarian lev equivalent of the

gross international foreign currency reserves;
• Under terms agreed with the Minister of Finance, the Bank acts as agent for public

debts or for debts guaranteed by the State;
• The Bank acts as a central depository of government securities.
The Governing Council of the BNB approved the consolidated financial statements set out
on pages 57 to 81 on 7 October 2008.

2. Applicable standards
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Commission.

3. Basis of preparation
The financial statements are presented in Bulgarian levs rounded to the nearest thousand
(BGN’000). The financial statements are prepared on a fair value basis for financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale assets and derivative fi-
nancial instruments, except those for which a reliable measure of fair value is not avail-
able. Other financial assets and liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities are
stated at amortised cost or historical cost.
The Bank consistently applies its accounting policy from the previous year.
When preparing the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs, the Bank makes esti-
mates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities for the fol-
lowing financial year. Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical ex-
perience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstance.

4. Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are the enterprises controlled by the Bank. Control exists when the Bank has
the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating polices of an enter-
prise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements of the subsidiar-
ies are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control com-
mences until the date that control ceases. All receivables and payables, income and ex-
penses as well as intragroup profits resulting from transactions between Group compa-
nies are eliminated unless they are immaterial. The share in the net assets of the Bank’s
subsidiaries, which corresponds to the minority shareholders’ proportionate share, is dis-
closed separately from Capital and reserves under the Minority interest item.
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Associates

Associates are those entities in which the Bank has significant influence, but which are
neither subsidiary enterprise nor joint venture. Investments in associates are included in
the Bank’s consolidated financial statements on an equity accounted basis as an amount
corresponding to the Bank’s share in the associates’ own funds as at the end of the report-
ing period. The Bank’s share of associates’ net results subsequent to acquisition is dis-
closed in the income statement as investment income/expenses and is added to/de-
ducted from the carrying value of the investment.

5. Principal accounting policy elements

(a) Income recognition

Interest income and expense are recognized in the income statement as they accrue, tak-
ing into account the effective yield of the asset or an applicable floating rate. Interest in-
come and expense include the amortization of any discount or premium, and other differ-
ences between the initial carrying amount and the amount at maturity calculated on an ef-
fective interest rate basis.
Fee and commission income and expense arise on financial services provided by the
Bank and are recognized in the income statement when the corresponding service is pro-
vided.
Other financial income/expense includes gains and losses arising from disposals and
changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and available-for-sale assets.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognized in the income statement
when the Bank obtains the right to receive the dividend payment.

(b) Financial instruments

(i) Classification

For the purposes of measuring financial instruments subsequent to initial recognition, the
Bank classifies the financial instruments into four categories:
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are those that the Bank holds pri-
marily for the purpose of short-term profit. These include investments that are not desig-
nated for any particular purpose and effective hedging instruments and liabilities from
short-term sales of financial instruments. Net receivables under derivatives held for trading
(positive fair value), as well as options purchased, if any, are reported as trading assets.
All net liabilities under derivatives for trading (negative fair value), as well as options writ-
ten, if any, are reported as trading liabilities.
Loans and receivables are instruments created by the Bank through providing money to a
debtor other than those created with the intention of short-term profit taking.
Held-to-maturity financial assets are assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity that the Bank has the intent and ability to hold to maturity.
Available-for-sale financial assets are all assets that cannot be classified in any other cat-
egory and are classified as available for sale, as well as any financial asset intended for
this purpose at its initial recognition.

(ii) Initial recognition

The Bank recognizes financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets
held to maturity and financial assets available for sale on the settlement date. From the
date it commits to purchase the assets, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value of the assets are recognized.

(iii) Subsequent measurement

Initially, financial instruments are recognized at cost, which includes transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss, and all available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, except that any
instrument that does not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured is stated at cost, including transaction costs, less im-
pairment losses, if any.
All non-trading financial liabilities, originated loans and receivables and held-to-maturity
assets are measured at amortised cost less impairment losses. Amortised cost is calcu-
lated based on the effective interest rate method. All premiums and discounts, including
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initial transaction costs, are included in the carrying amount of the related instrument and
amortised based on the effective interest rate of the instrument.

(iv) Fair value measurement and disclosure principles

The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market price at the balance
sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs. If a quoted market price is not
available, the fair value of the instrument is estimated using pricing models or discounted
cash flow techniques.
Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based
on management’s best estimates and the discount rate is a market-related rate at the bal-
ance sheet date for an instrument with similar terms and conditions and characteristics.
Where pricing models are used, inputs are based on market related measures at the bal-
ance sheet date.
The fair value of derivatives that are not exchange-traded is estimated at the amount that
the Bank would receive or pay to terminate the contract at the balance sheet date taking
into account current market conditions and the current creditworthiness of the
counterparties.
The futures are measured at fair value using market prices quoted on active markets.
In accordance with IAS 7, the Bank discloses the fair value information on assets or liabili-
ties for which published market information is readily available and where the fair value is
materially different from their recorded amounts.
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, deposits in foreign currency, other receiv-
ables and liabilities is approximately equal to the book value given, because of their short-
term maturity. The Bank changes the contractual interest rate on the liabilities to the Gov-
ernment that carry the floating interest rate to reflect the movement in the market interest
rates.

(v) Gains and losses on subsequent measurement

All gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of financial instruments through
profit and loss are recognized in the income statement.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial as-
sets are recognized directly in equity, until the financial asset is derecognized or impaired
at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity should be recog-
nized in income statement.

(vi) Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognized on the value date after the Bank loses control over the
contractual rights that comprise that asset. This occurs when the rights are realized, ex-
pire or are surrendered.
A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished.
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets through profit or loss are
derecognized on the settlement day. Gains and losses at derecognition are determined
individually for each asset.

(vii) Automatic securities lending agreements

Investments lent under automatic securities lending agreements are reported in the bal-
ance sheet and are valued in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to assets
held for trading, respectively assets for sale. Investments lent under automatic securities
lending agreements continue to be recognized in the Bank’s balance sheet. Income aris-
ing from the securities lending agreements is recognised on an accrual basis when it oc-
curs and is reported as interest income.

(viii) Impairment of assets

Financial assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

(c) Gold and other precious metals

Gold and other precious metals are valued at market value based on the official London
Bullion Market closing price at the balance sheet date.
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(d) Equity investments

For the purposes of measuring the equity investments subsequent to initial recognition,
they are classified as available-for-sale financial assets and are reported at fair value.
Details of investments held by the Bank are set out in note 14.

(e) Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets are stated in the balance sheet at their
acquisition cost, respectively cost as modified by any revaluation, less accumulated de-
preciation and impairment losses.

(i) Subsequent expenditure

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment
that is accounted for separately is capitalized. All other subsequent expenditures are capi-
talized only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied in the item of prop-
erty, plant and equipment. All other expenditures are recognized in the income statement
as an expense as incurred.

(ii) Depreciation

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis as per estab-
lished norms with a view to carrying as an expenditure the value or measurement of prop-
erty, plant, equipment and intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. Land is not
depreciated. The depreciation rates used are as follows.

(%)

Buildings                               2−4
Plant and equipment  3−15
Computers  30−33.3
Fixtures and fittings                  15−20
Motor vehicles                   8−25
Intangible fixed assets   20−25

Expenditures incurred for the acquisition of property, plant, equipment and intangible as-
sets are not depreciated until those are brought into use.

(iii) Calculation of recoverable amount of assets

The recoverable amount of the Bank’s property, plant and equipment is the greater of the
net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(iv) Reversals of impairment

In respect of property, plant and equipment, an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is reversed only up to the amount before recognizing of impairment loss.

(f) Foreign currency

Income and expenditure arising in foreign currencies are translated to BGN at the rates of
exchange on the transaction date  or at the BNB exchange rate valid for the respective
date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance
sheet date are translated at the official exchange rate of the Bank on that day. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the revaluation of monetary assets and liabilities
are recognized in the income statement. Foreign currency denominated non-monetary
assets and liabilities are valued at the exchange rate on the date of acquisition or at latest
determination of fair value.
Outstanding forward contracts in foreign exchange are marked to market. The gains and
losses on revaluation of outstanding forward contacts are recognized in the income state-
ment.
The exchange rates of the major foreign currencies as at 30 June 2008 and 31 December
2007 are as follows:



67

B
ulgarian N

ational B
ank C

onsolidated Financial Statem
ents as at 30 June 2008

Currency 30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

US dollar (USD) 1 : BGN 1.24069 1 : BGN 1.33122
Euro (EUR) 1 : BGN 1.95583 1 : BGN 1.95583
Special Drawing Rights (SDR) 1 : BGN 2.02681 1 : BGN 2.10130
Gold (XAU) 1 troy ounce : BGN 1153.220 1 troy ounce : BGN 1102.460

g) Taxation

The Bank is not subject to income tax on income from its main activities. Tax on the profit
from subsidiaries for the period comprises current tax and deferred tax. Current tax com-
prises tax payable calculated on the basis of the expected taxable income for the period,
using the effective tax rate or the current one on the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is
derived using the balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences between the
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation pur-
poses.

(h) Profit distribution policy of the Bank

The Bank’s policy of distribution of profit from banking operations is defined in the Law on
the BNB. New BNB Financial Statements and Accounting Policy Internal Rules were
adopted by a resolution of the BNB Governing Council in accordance with Article 36,
paragraphs 1 and 2 of the Law on the BNB and are effective from 1 January 2007. Accord-
ing to these rules, the Bank allocates to special reserves unrealised net gains and losses
arising from revaluation of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency or gold.
According to the requirements of Article 8, paragraph 2 of the Law on the BNB, the Bank
sets aside 25 per cent of the excess of its annual revenue over its annual expenditure into
a Reserve Fund. According to Article 8, paragraph 3 of the Law on the BNB, after the al-
location to the Reserve Fund, the Bank may allocate reserves to cover market risk losses
and other reserves by a decision of the Governing Council. Subsequent to the allocation
of reserves as required by the Law on the BNB, the Bank stipulates the remainder to be
paid into the State Budget.

(i) Cash in hand and deposits in foreign currency

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, current accounts and time deposits
with maturities of less than three months.

(j) Implementation of relevant international financial reporting standards
published but not yet effective as of the balance sheet date

IFRS 8 – Operating Segments (effective from 1 January 2009). The standard requires the
disclosure of segments based on the Bank’s components, which the management moni-
tors for operating decision-making purposes. The Bank’s operating segments are compo-
nents of the Bank, for which discrete financial information is available, that is regularly re-
viewed by a chief operating decision maker to make decisions on resource allocation and
to assess the performance of operating segments. The management is of the view that
IFRS 8 is not relevant to the Bank’s activities.
Revised IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs eliminates the option of recognizing all borrowing costs
as expenses immediately upon their occurrence and requires entities to capitalize borrow-
ing costs directly related to acquisition, construction, or production of a qualifying asset
as part of the cost of that asset. The revised IAS 23 is mandatory to apply in the 2009 fi-
nancial statements and is not relevant to the Bank’s activities.
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for the annual peri-
ods starting on or after 1 March 2007). The Interpretation requires that share-based pay-
ment arrangements, under which an entity receives goods or services as a compensation
for its own equity instruments, should be recognized as share-based payment transac-
tions, settled in shares, irrespective of how the necessary capital instruments were re-
ceived. The Bank finds that IFRIC 11 will have no impact on the Bank’s operations, as it
has concluded no share-based payment arrangements in 2007.
IFRIC 12 – Service Concession Agreements (effective from 1 January 2008). The Interpre-
tation provides guidance to private sector entities on certain aspects of disclosure and
valuation issues arising from the accounting of public-private concession agreements.
The Bank finds that IFRIC 12 will not have any impact on its operations, as the Bank has
no concession agreement concluded.
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IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes addresses accounting by entities operating or
participating in customer loyalty programmes. This Interpretation deals with customer loy-
alty programmes under which customers may exchange the loyalty credits collected by
them for awards such as free or discounted goods or services. IFRIC 13 is in effect from 1
July 2008 and is not relevant to the activities pursued by the Bank.
IFRIC 14 – IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements
and Their Interaction (effective from 1 January 2008) clarifies when refunds or reductions
in future contributions on defined benefit assets should be regarded as ‘available’, and
provides information on the minimum funding requirements for these assets. IFRIC 14
clarifies in what cases minimum funding requirements for the assets under a plan may give
rise to a liability. This Interpretation comes into effect for the 2008 financial statements, but
it is not relevant to the activities of the Bank.

6. Financial risk management policy disclosure

(а)   Introduction and overview

The Bank is exposed to the following types of risk in relation to its operations and financial
instruments:
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk which generally includes interest rate and currency risks
• Operational risk
This note provides information on the Bank’s goals, exposures to each of the above types
of risk and the policies and processes for risk measurement and management.

General provisions of risk management

The process of the BNB management of the gross international reserves looks to the secu-
rity and high liquidity of the investment assets, first, and then the intention of maximizing
income in the context of the international markets conditions. Its investment strategy de-
pends mainly on the specific function of a central bank operating under a strictly regulated
currency board arrangement and in accordance with the requirements of the Law on the
BNB.
The major portion of BNB’s foreign currency reserves is invested in low-risk discount and
coupon bonds issued mainly by euro area Member States, government agencies and su-
pranational financial institutions and in short-term foreign currency and gold deposits
placed with first rate foreign banks. The remaining portion is held in SDRs, and in monetary
gold kept in the Bank’s vaults.
The foreign currency reserve risks are managed by an independent risk management unit.
It is directly responsible for the strategic asset allocation and the determination of the for-
eign exchange reserves benchmark, and prepares and submits for approval the invest-
ment management limits. On a quarterly basis, an overall review is made of the changes
in the market conditions, the amount and structure of foreign currency reserves, and if re-
quired, the investment limits and benchmarks are updated. The observance of underlying
limits, rules, and procedures is monitored on a daily basis. Reports are regularly prepared
both for the needs of foreign currency reserves operating management, and for providing
updated information to the Bank’s management.
All approved financial instruments and asset classes in which the BNB may invest are
given in the document Investment Guidelines and Benchmarks for the Management of the
Gross International Reserves. The same document defines the main portfolios and the
benchmarks corresponding to them, as well as all limits for credit, interest rate, currency
and operational risk. The document contains an exhaustive list of approved issuers and
debt instruments which the BNB may invest in, and a list of foreign financial institutions act-
ing as BNB counterparties to the different types of foreign currency operations.
The foreign currency reserve management is governed by rules of behaviour and proce-
dures regulating the performance of the functions and tasks of the main structural units
responsible. The rules and procedures are included in the document Manual of Business
Procedures for Foreign Currency Reserve Management.

(b) Credit risk

The BNB is exposed to credit risk through its trading operations and investment activities
and in cases where it acts as an intermediary on behalf of the Government or other public
institutions. The Bank assumes credit risk also in operations of purchase and sale of re-
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serve currency with banks. In general, this credit risk is associated with the probability of
insolvency or bankruptcy of a BNB’s counterparty or the bankruptcy or insolvency of a
debt issuer, in whose debt instruments the Bank has invested its own funds. Credit risk is
limited by setting strict requirements for high credit ratings assigned by internationally rec-
ognized credit rating agencies.
From credit risk perspective, the Bank can currently invest in the following types of finan-
cial instruments:
• Investment programmes with central banks;
• Automatic security lending and/or borrowing transactions with the custodian;
• Lending of securities deposited with a bank agent;
• Foreign currency deposits (time deposits and current account funds) with group one

counterparties and/or with central banks;
• Gold deposits (time deposits and current account funds);
• Commercial paper issued by:

- government or government-guaranteed;
- supranational institutions and agencies;
- agencies non-guaranteed by the state;
- banks;
- issuers of secured Eurobonds;

• Bonds issued by:
- government or government-guaranteed agencies;
- supranational institutions;
- specialized financial agencies;
- banks – secured German bonds of the type Jumbo Pfandbrief and Irish Asset Covered

Securities;
- other financial institutions – secured French bonds of the type Obligations Foncieres.

All bonds should be with a one-off payment of the nominal value on the maturity date and
without integrated options;
• Currency Sales and Purchases:

- with a value date of no mare than 2 working days (spot).
Futures – interest rate and bond (long and/or short positions are allowed), traded on the
international regulated markets;
A minimum exposure limit is set for investments in debt issued by countries, central banks
or government-guaranteed financial institutions. The limit defines the portion of foreign
currency reserves to be invested in the most risk-free and highly liquid asset class. The
rest of the above asset classes are subject to limits of maximum exposure. All limits take
into account the level of credit risk of the relevant asset classes.
According to the BNB Policy for counterparties in foreign currency reserve management,
foreign financial institutions acting as BNB counterparties are divided into two groups:
• Group One – financial institutions to which the BNB may have a credit exposure. These

should have long-term credit rating higher or equal to AA- according to S&P and
FitchRatings, or Aa3 according to Moody’s by at least two of the above indicated
agencies.

• Group Two – financial institutions with which the BNB may conclude DVP (Delivery Ver-
sus Payment) transactions for the sale or purchase of securities. They should have a
short-term credit rating higher or equal to A-1 per S&P, F-1 per Fitch Ratings or P-2 per
Moody’s by at least two of the above agencies.

The investment limits of the BNB set a system of limits of maximum exposures to individual
counterparties. The set limits are calculated on the basis of internal credit ratings and the
fully paid up capital of the counterparty. The internal credit rating, on its part, is a function
of long-term ratings by the above three credit ratings. In addition, based on the internal
credit rating, limits are set for the maximum term of the deposits in gold and foreign ex-
change placed with banks, and of the commercial paper issued by them.

(c) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk arises in the funding of the Bank’s core activities and in the management of
positions, and has two aspects, the first aspect being the risk for the Bank of being unable
to meet its obligations when due, and the second aspect – the risk of being unable to liq-
uidate an asset at a fair value within an appropriate time frame and in compliance with the
relevant market conventions.
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(BGN’000)

As at 30 June 2008 Up to From 1 to From 3 months From 1 to  Over 5 Undefined Total
1 month     3 months to 1 year     5 years years maturity

Financial assets

Cash and deposits in foreign currencies 3,343,959 - - - - - 3,343,959
Gold, instruments in gold, and other precious metals 885,135 - - - - 615,460 1,500,595
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,441,794 3,151,254 10,578,849 3,550,615 367,262 - 21,089,774
Financial assets available for sale 68,328 - - - - 1,275,657 1,343,985

Total financial assets 7,739,216 3,151,254 10,578,849 3,550,615 367,262 1,891,117 27,278,313

Financial liabilities

Banknotes and coins in circulation - - - - - 8,124,559 8,124,559
Due to banks and other financial institutions 5,918,315 - - - - - 5,918,315
Liabilities to government institutions and other liabilities 8,239,819 650,646 517,430 - - - 9,407,895
Liabilities against participations in international
financial institutions - - - - - 1,229,916 1,229,916

Total financial liabilities 14,158,134 650,646 517,430 - - 9,354,475 24,680,685

Asset-liability maturity mismatch (6,418,918) 2,500,608 10,061,419 3,550,615 367,262 (7,463,358) 2,597,628

As at 31 December 2007 Up to From 1 to From 3 months From 1 to  Over 5 Undefined Total
1 month     3 months to 1 year     5 years years maturity

Financial assets

Cash and deposits in foreign currencies 3,507,981 - - - - - 3,507,981
Gold, instruments in gold, and other precious metals 88,248 756,624 - - - 587,794 1,432,666
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,112,942 4,182,918 8,048,728 2,749,597 262,484 - 18,368,669
Financial assets available for sale 70,023 - - - - 1,321,563 1,391,586

Total financial assets 6,779,194 4,939,542 8,048,728 2,749,597 262,484 1,909,357 24,688,902

Financial liabilities

Banknotes and coins in circulation - - - - - 8,410,867 8,410,867
Due to banks and other financial institutions 5,783,538 - - - - - 5,783,538
Liabilities to government institutions and other borrowings 6,140,774 601,727 11,321 - - - 6,753,822
Liabilities against participations in international
financial institutions - - - - - 1,275,420 1,275,420

Total financial liabilities 11,924,312 601,727 11,321 - - 9,686,287 22,223,647

Asset-liability maturity mismatch (5,145,118) 4,337,815 8,037,407 2,749,597 262,484 (7,776,930) 2,465,255

The Bank’s customers are determined by the Law on the BNB. It attracts funds by means
of a number of instruments – deposit/investment accounts, a structured indexed account
(SIA), settlement accounts and other borrowed funds established by law. The Bank strives
to maintain a balance between the maturity of borrowed funds and that of assets through
investments in financial instruments with a range of maturities. Limits are set to ensure
minimum liquidity by type of currency. This liquidity is provided on a daily basis, thus en-
suring all BNB foreign currency payments. Limits on the residual term to maturity for the fi-
nancial instruments of those asset classes approved for investment have been introduced.
The Bank continually assesses liquidity risk by identifying and monitoring changes in fund-
ing required for meeting its goals and targets set in terms of the overall Bank strategy. As
part of its overall liquidity risk management strategy, the Bank has defined some require-
ments for the management of a portfolio of liquid assets denominated in euro and for main-
taining assets denominated in other currencies for the purposes of meeting its cash in-
flows and outflows.
The Bank’s financial assets and liabilities, analyzed by residual term to maturity from the
balance sheet date to the date of any subsequent agreement or agreed maturity, are as
follows:
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The outstanding contractual maturities of the Bank’s financial liabilities are as follows:

(BGN’000)

Gross From From From
Book value nominal Up to 1 month to 3 months 1 year Over

outgoing 1 month 3 months to 1 year to 5 years 5 years
cash flow

As at 30 June 2008

Banknotes and cons in circulation 8,124,559 8,124,559 - - - - 8,124,559

Due to banks and other financial
institutions 5,918,315 5,918,315 5,918,315 - - - -

Liabilities to government institutions
and other borrowings 9,407,895 9,422,748 8,239,819 650,646 517,430 - -

Liabilities against participations in
international financial institutions 1,229,916 1,229,916 - - - - 1,229,916

24,680,685 24,695,538 14,158,134 650,646 517,430 - 9,354,475

As at 31 December 2007

Banknotes and coins in circulation 8,410,867 8,410,867 - - - - 8,410,867

Due to banks and other financial
institutions 5,783,538 5,783,538 5,783,538 - - - -

Liabilities to government institutions
and other borrowings 6,753,822 6,758,799 6,130,862 605,605 22,332 - -

Liabilities against participations in
international financial institutions 1,275,420 1,275,420 - - - - 1,275,420

22,223,647 22,228,624 11,914,400 605,605 22,332 - 9,686,287

(d) Market risk

Market risk

All financial instruments are subject to market risk, i.e. the risk of impairment as a result of
changes in the market conditions. The instruments are evaluated on a daily basis at fair
value which best reflects current market conditions for the respective type of financial in-
strument. The Bank manages its portfolios in response to changing market conditions.
Exposure to market risk is managed in accordance with the risk limits formally set in the
Investment Limits to the Management of the Gross International Foreign Currency Re-
serves.

Interest rate risk

The Bank’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations which affect the
prices of interest-earning assets (including investments) and interest-bearing liabilities.
The Bank uses modified duration as a key measurement for interest rate risk. Modified
duration measures the effect of the change in the market value of an asset (liability) in re-
sponse to 1 basis point (1/100th of 1 per cent) change in the interest rate levels. In addition,
portfolios’ technical parameters such as convexity, spread duration, duration in a fixed
point of the yield curve are monitored on a daily basis. For each portfolio held by the BNB,
the interest rate is limited by a benchmark (model portfolio) and by the investment limits for
a maximum allowable deviation of the modified duration of the portfolio from that of the re-
spective benchmark.
The assets and liabilities with floating interest rates involve the risk of changes in the base
which serves to determine the interest rates.
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(BGN’000)

 As at 30 June 2008 Effective Total Floating rate   Fixed rate instruments
rate instruments

Less than Between Between
1 month 1 month and 3 months

3 months and 1 year
Interest-earning assets
Cash and deposits in foreign currencies 3.58 3,263,272 10,638 3,252,633 - -
Gold, instruments in gold, and other
precious metals 0 - - - - -
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 4.64 20,752,121 97,718 3,345,696 3,105,070 14,203,637
Financial assets available for sale 67,756 - 67,756 - -
Other interest-earning assets 30,415 - 30,415 - -

Total 24,113,564 108,357 6,696,500 3,105,070 14,203,637

Interest-bearing liabilities
Liabilities to government institutions
and other borrowings 2.97 7,926,392 - 6,821,392 600,000 505,000

Total 7,926,392 - 6,821,392 600,000 505,000

Interest-bearing asset/liability gap 16,187,172 108,357 (124,892) 2,505,070 13,698,637

(BGN’000)

 As at 31 December 2007 Effective Total Floating rate   Fixed rate instruments
rate instruments

Less than Between Between
1 month 1 month and 3 months

3 months and 1 year
Interest-earning assets
Cash and deposits in foreign currencies 4.15 3,416,197 4,810 3,411,387 - -
Gold, instruments in gold, and
other precious metals 0.16 844,752 - 88,245 756,507 -
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 4.11 18,241,492 98,029 3,091,809 4,172,759 10,878,895
Financial assets available for sale 70,023 - 70,023 - -
Other interest-earning assets 28,488 - 28,488 - -

Total 22,600,952 102,839 6,689,952 4,929,266 10,878,895

Interest-bearing liabilities
Due to banks and other financial institutions 5,783,538 - 5,783,538 - -
Liabilities to government institutions
and other borrowings 3.44 5,011,875 146,687 4,254,188 600,000 11,000

Total 10,795,413 146,687 10,037,726 600,000 11,000

Interest-bearing asset/liability gap 11,805,539 (43,848) (3,347,774) 4,329,266 10,867,895

For managing interest rate risk and the band of interest rate changes we monitor the sen-
sitivity of financial assets and liabilities to various standard and non-standard interest rate
movement scenarios.
The standard scenarios include 100 basis points instant and parallel increase and de-
crease in all yield curves globally and 50 basis points increase and decrease in the yield
curves for a period of over 12 months. The second two scenarios assume that the change
in yields takes place at the beginning of the period and the next year the yield curve re-
mains unchanged.
The analysis of the Bank’s sensitivity to changes in interest rates, assuming a constant
balance sheet position, is as follows:
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(BGN’000)

100 b.p. 100 b.p. 50 b.p. 100 b.p.
parallel parallel parallel parallel
increase decrease increase decrease

in 1 year in 1 year
2008
As at 30 June (134,168) 134,168 778,694 767,336

2007
As at 31 December (102,790)     102, 790      451,069       443,321

Currency risk

Currency risk exists where there is a difference between the currency structure of assets
and that of liabilities. From an accounting point of view, the Bank is exposed to currency
risk when conducting transactions in financial instruments denominated in currencies
other than the Bank’s base currency (euro).
With  the introduction of  the currency  board arrangement in Bulgaria and  the fixing of
the Bulgarian currency to the euro, the Bank’s financial statements, prepared in Bulgarian
levs, are affected by movements in the exchange rate of the lev against the currencies
other than the euro.
To minimize currency risk, there is a limit to the mismatches between the currency struc-
ture of assets and that of liabilities. According to Article 31(3) of the Law on the BNB, the
market value of assets in a currency other than the euro, SDR and monetary gold, may not
deviate by more than +/-2 per cent of the market value of the liabilities denominated in
these currencies.

(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Assets
Bulgarian lev and euro area currencies 24,670,226 22,063,825
US dollar 19,805 34,353
Japanese yen 85 68
Pound sterling 303 230
SDR 1,327,375 1,368,157
Gold 1,476,786 1,429,006
Other 2,161 5,987

27,496,741 24,901,626

Liabilities
Bulgarian lev and euro area currencies 26,242,973 23,591,210
US dollar 21,191 34,148
Japanese yen - -
Pound sterling 13 -
SDR 1,230,561 1,274,243
Gold - -
Other 2,003 2,025

27,496,741 24,901,626

Net position
Bulgarian lev and euro area currencies (1,572,747) (1,527,385)
US dollar (1,386) 205
Japanese yen 85 68
Pound sterling 290 230
SDR 96,814 93,914
Gold 1,476,786 1,429,006
Other 158 3,962
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7.  Interest income and expense
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Interest income
- on securities 389,612 204,838
- on deposits 71,279 69,329
- other 2 421

460,893 274,588
Interest expense
- on deposits 132,856 71,868
- other 1,064 2,952

133,920 74,820

Interest expenses paid on government deposits in levs as at 30 June 2008 are
BGN 87,287 thousand, and BGN 21,687 thousand in foreign currency. Interest expenses
paid on deposits in BGN of other government organisations as at 30 June 2008 are
BGN 791 thousand, and BGN 1458 thousand in foreign currency.

8. Net gains/(losses) from financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit and loss

(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Net gains from operations in securities 28,451 9,094
Net gains from operations in foreign currency 179 84
Net revaluation gains on futures 2,662 1,286
Net revaluation gains/(losses) on securities (53,121) (3,344)
Net revaluation (losses) on foreign currency assets and liabilities (1,893) (916)
Net revaluation gains/(losses) on gold and precious metals 66,515 (3,017)

42,793 3,187

9. Other operating income
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Net income from disposal of fixed assets 58 -
Turnover of subsidiaries 11,664 11,094
Income from sale of coins 790 1,095
Dividend income - 729
Other income, net 327 3,281

12,838 16,199

10.  Total administrative expenses
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Personnel costs 13,004 12,964
Administrative expenses 19,404 17,895
Depreciation 11,137 7,807
Other expenses 575 2,500

44,120 41,166
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Personnel costs include salaries, social and health insurance costs charged under the lo-
cal legislation provisions as at 30 June 2008, respectively for the BNB – BGN 9839 thou-
sand, for the Printing Works AD – BGN 1993 thousand, and for the State Mint EOOD -
BGN 1172 thousand. The number of employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries is 1197 in
2008 (June 2007: 1250), including the BNB staff of 845 in 2008 (June 2007: 910).
According to the Labour Code requirements, on termination of the employment contract of
an employee who has become entitled to retirement, the Bank is obliged to pay him/her
compensation amounting to twice his/her gross monthly salary. If the employee has been
employed by the Bank in the last ten years, the amount of this compensation is six times
his/her gross monthly salary at the time of his/her retirement.
Based on actuarial calculations, the Bank has accrued its retirement compensation liabili-
ties to the personnel in the amount of BGN 43 thousand and unused annual leave of
BGN 1092 thousand (30 June 2007: BGN 117 thousand and BGN 1003 thousand). The re-
tirement compensation and unused annual leave for the Bank’s subsidiaries as at 30 June
2008 are BGN 75 thousand and BGN 67 thousand respectively (30 June 2007: BGN 282
thousand and BGN 100 thousand).
Administrative expenses include also the BNB’s currency circulation expenses of
BGN 9140 thousand as at 30 June 2008 (30 June 2007: BGN 9336 thousand).

11. Cash and deposits in foreign currencies
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Foreign currency cash 79,641 87,944
Current accounts in other banks 11,802 4,917
Deposits in foreign currency 3,252,516 3,415,120

3,343,959 3,507,981

Cash and deposits in foreign currencies with correspondents are disclosed as follows:

(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Euro area residents
        In EUR 1,596 ,967 1,204,545
        In other currencies 948 144

1,597,915 1,204,689

Non-euro area residents
        In EUR 1,716,364 2,264,465
       In other currencies 29,680 38,827

1,746,044 2,303,292

3,343,959 3,507,981

12. Gold, instruments in gold, and other precious metals

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007
’000 ’000

troy ounces BGN’000 troy ounces BGN’000

Gold bullion in standard form 513 591,651 513 565,609
Gold deposits in standard form 768 885,135 766 844,872
Gold in other form 17 19,627 17 18,526
Other precious metals - 4,182 - 3,659

1,500,595 1,432,666
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Gold deposits in standard form include gold held with correspondents. This gold earns
interest at rates between 0.15 per cent and 0.20 per cent per annum. Gold in other forms
includes gold commemorative coins of BGN 19,283 thousand and silver commemorative
coins of BGN 344 thousand. Other precious metals include platinum commemorative
coins of BGN 4182 thousand.

13. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Foreign treasury bills, notes and bonds 21,089,774 18,356,669

21,089,774 18,356,669

Securities comprise of both coupon and discount securities denominated in EUR. The
coupon interests of the EUR-denominated securities were between 2.37 per cent and 7.50
per cent as at 30 June 2008 (31 December 2007: 3.9 per cent).
The value of securities pledged as collateral on futures transactions amounts to BGN
19,621 thousand as at 30 June 2008 (31 December 2007: BGN 19,606 thousand).
The securities issued by foreign governments and other issuers with credit rating graded
by at least two of the three credit rating agencies – Standard & Poor’s, Fitch Ratings, or the
corresponding Moody’s ratings are disclosed as follows:

(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Investment graded securities ААА 14,319,596 11,213,991
АА+ 3,602,049 4,860,584
АА 1,240,087 1,545,181
AA- 1,702,335 348,812
А+ 225,707 388,101

21,089,774 18,356,669

14. Financial assets available for sale
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Republic of Bulgaria’s quota in the IMF 1,298,062 1,345,663
Equity investments in international financial institutions 27,989 27,989
Equity investments in associates 17,934 17,934

1,343,985 1,391,586

The Republic of Bulgaria’s quota in the IMF is SDR 640,200 thousand. BGN 67,756 thou-
sand of the Republic of Bulgaria’s quota in the IMF represents the reserve tranche held
with the IMF. The IMF pays remuneration (interest) to those members who have a remuner-
ated reserve tranche position at 2.75 per cent annual floating rate.
Equity investments in international financial institutions include the equity investment in the
Bank for International Settlements (BIS), Basel. Twenty-five per cent of the equity invest-
ment in BIS Basel is paid up. The current value of these shares is SDR 10,000 thousand,
which as at 30 June 2008 equals BGN 23,950 thousand (as at 31 December 2007:
BGN 22,341 thousand – ref. note 28.1). The capital subscribed but not paid in has an op-
tion to be paid in within three months upon a decision of the BIS Board of Governors.
The BNB as a member of the ESCB pays effectively 7 per cent of the subscribed equity
investment set for the countries which have not adopted the euro.
Equity investments in international financial institutions do not exceed 10 per cent of the
issued share capital of those institutions.
The Bank exercises substantial influence on the financial and operational policies of the
associated companies listed below, and its investments in domestic companies are
analysed as follows:

Securities at fair value
through profit or loss

Issuer’s credit
rating
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Name of institution Share holding,        Principal activity
per cent

Associated companies
Bankservice AD 35.85 Interbank clearing
BORICA AD 36.24 Servicing bank card payments
International Bank Institute OOD 42.31 Financial training and research
Central Depository AD 20.00 Agent for corporate securities
Cash Services Company AD 25.00 Handling of sealed parcels of Bulgarian coins

and banknotes coming from the BNB
and the banks

15. Tangible assets
(BGN’000)

Land and Equipment IT Office Other Tangible Total
buildings equipment equipment equipment assets

(incl. motor in progress
vehicles)

As at 1 January 2008 122,463 68,455 17,226 4,877 5,051 4,163 222,235
Additions 16 635 31 75 209 9,660 10,626
Disposals 0 (45) (259) (21) (45) 0 (370)
Transfers 0 429 1,247 140 134 (1,950) 0

As at 30 June 2008 122,479 69,474 18,245 5,071 5,349 11,873 232,491

Depreciation and
impairment loss
As at 1 January 2008 (15,888) (37,889) (11,038) (2,652) (3,338) 0 (70,805)
Charge for the period (1,634) (2,946) (1,866) (227) (310) 0 (6,983)
On disposals 0 87 208 21 45 0 361

As at 30 June 2008 (17,522) (40,748) (12,696) (2,858) (3,603) 0 (77,427)

Net book value
as at 30 June 2008 104,957 28,726 5,549 2,213 1,746 11,873 155,064

Net book value
as at 31 December 2007 106,575 30,566 6,188 2,225 1,713 4,163 151,430

16. Intangible assets
(BGN’000)

Software Other Intangible Total
intangible assets

assets in progress

As at 1 January 2008 19,854 44 4,253 24,151
Additions 3 1 4,453 4,457
Disposals 0 0 0 0
Transfers 214 0 (214) 0

As at 30 June 2008 20,071 45 8,492 28,608

Depreciation and
impairment loss
As at 1 January 2008 (9,181) (35) 0 (9,216)
Charge for the period (4,145) (2) 0 (4,147)
On disposals 0 0 0 0

As at 30 June 2008 (13,326) (37) 0 (13,363)

Net book value
As at 30 June 2008 6,745 8 8,492 15,245

Net book value
as at 31 December 2007 10,673 9 4,253 14,935

As at 30 June 2008 the Bank has bought software to the amount of BGN 214 thousand
(31 December 2007: BGN 9353 thousand).
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17. Other assets
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Balances of subsidiaries held with local banks 30,415 28,488
Precious metal commemorative coins for sale 362 467
Inventories 13,377 8,543
Accounts receivable 2,461 3,699
Prepaid expenses 84 1,244
Other receivables 1,420 3,918

48,119 46,359

18. Banknotes and coins in circulation
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Banknotes in circulation 7,989,514 8,284,832
Coins in circulation 135,045 126,035

8,124,559 8,410,867

19. Due to banks and other financial institutions
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007
Sight deposits from banks and other financial institutions
 – in BGN 2,050,194 2,117,513
 – in foreign currency 3,868,121 3,666,025

5,918,315 5,783,538

The Bank does not pay interest on demand deposits from banks and other financial insti-
tutions. Demand deposits include BGN 5917 million representing the required reserves,
which all local banks are required to maintain with the Bank as part of their current ac-
counts (31 December 2007: BGN 5295 million).

20. Liabilities to government institutions and other borrowings
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007
Current accounts
– in BGN 1,108,166 1,038,243
– in foreign currency 373,337 846,282

Time deposit accounts
– in BGN 6,653,000 3,520,929
– in foreign currency 1,273,392 1,348,368

9,407,895 6,753,822

Deposits and current accounts of government institutions with the Bank comprise funds
held on behalf of state budget and other government organizations. No interest is payable
on the current accounts. Government deposit accounts in USD earn interest between 1.58
per cent and 1.64 per cent. Government deposit accounts in EUR earn interest between
3.39 per cent and 3.57 per cent and in BGN earn interest between 3.49 per cent and 3.89
per cent.

21. Liabilities against participations in international financial institutions
The liabilities against Bulgaria’s participation in the IMF as at 30 June 2008 amount to
BGN 1,226,564 thousand or SDR 605,170 thousand (as at 31 December 2007:
BGN 1,271,866 thousand or SDR 605,276 thousand).
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Liabilities to the IMF are denominated in SDRs. Liabilities related to Bulgaria’s IMF quota
are non-interest bearing with no stated maturity. This note includes account No. 1 of the
IMF for administrative expenses denominated in BGN amounting to BGN 3352 thousand
(as at 31 December 2007: BGN 3554 thousand).

22. Other liabilities
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

European Commission funds 43,293 32,914
Salaries and social security payable 2,726 1,720
Deferred income 853 1,765
Other liabilities 53,614 9,351

100,486 45,750

As from 1 January 2007 the Republic of Bulgaria, in its capacity as EU Member State, par-
ticipates in the funding of EU budget. Pursuant to Article 9 of the Council Regulation
No 1150/2000 of 22 May 2000, the BNB has opened and services accounts in EUR and in
BGN for the European Commission funds. The payment instructions for transactions on
these accounts are given by authorized persons of the European Commission.

23. Capital and reserves
The capital of the Bank is determined in the Law on the BNB and amounts to BGN 20,000
thousand.
Non-current asset and commemorative coin revaluation reserves comprise the cumulative
net change in fair values of certain groups of tangible non-current assets, equity invest-
ments and commemorative coins.
In accordance with the Law on the Bulgarian National Bank, unrealised gains/losses aris-
ing from the revaluation of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies or gold
are transferred to a special reserve account. The special reserve includes the monetary
asset revaluation.
Distribution (to)/from the special reserve:

(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Profit for the period 341, 458          693,880
Unrealised (gains) on gold revaluation (66,515) (205,564)
Unrealised (gains)/loss on revaluation of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (net) 50,459 (37,116)
Unrealised loss on revaluation of foreign currency (net) 1,893 3,734
Other unrealised gains - 70

Result after distribution (to)/from the special reserve          327,295         454,864

Other reserves include the transfers to reserves of 25 per cent of the annual excess of rev-
enue over expenditure and reserves upon a decision of the Governing Council.

24. Minority interest
BNB Printing Works AD is a joint-stock company with two shareholders: the BNB and the
Government represented by the Minister of Finance. The Bulgarian National Bank holds
95.6 per cent of the company’s equity. In 2005 the Government, as represented by the
Minister of Finance, acquired 4.4 per cent of the company’s capital (3093 shares with par
value of BGN 1000 each).
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25. Monetary liabilities and gross international foreign exchange reserves
(BGN’000)

30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Gross international foreign exchange reserves
Cash and deposits in foreign currencies 3,343,960 3,507,981
Monetary gold and other instruments in gold 1,476,786 1,410,480
Debt securities investments 21,089,774 18,356,669
Equity investments and quota in the IMF 67,756 70,023

25,978,276 23,345,153
Monetary liabilities
Banknotes and coins in circulation 8,124,559 8,410,867
Due to banks and other financial institutions 5,917,976 5,783,339
Liabilities to government institutions 9,192,198 6,446,827
Other liabilities 259,328 340,108

23,494,061 20,981,141
Surplus of gross international foreign exchange reserves
over monetary liabilities 2,484,215 2,364,012

The interest receivable and interest payable is included within the value of underlying fi-
nancial assets and liabilities.
The monetary gold and other instruments in gold are revaluated on a daily basis based on
the official London Bullion Market closing price.

26. Related party transactions

1) Bulgarian Government

International Monetary Fund

The IMF quota is secured by promissory notes jointly signed by the Bank and the Govern-
ment (ref. note 21).

Government bank accounts

Government budget organizations and other government organizations have current ac-
counts and time deposits with the Bank (ref. note 20).

Fiduciary activities

In accordance with the Law on the BNB and under the terms agreed upon with the Minis-
try of Finance, the BNB acts as a public debt agent. With regard to this role, BNB performs
agent and central depository services related to the administration and management of
government securities issued by the Ministry of Finance. The Bank receives income for
providing these services. These securities are not assets or liabilities of the BNB and are
not recognized in the consolidated balance sheet. The Bank is not exposed to any credit
risk relating to such placements, as it does not guarantee these investments. As at 30
June 2008 the par value of the total securities held in custody was BGN 3111 million (31
December 2007: BGN 3190 million).

27. Subsidiaries
(%)

Ownership interest 30 June 2008 31 Dec. 2007

State Mint EOOD 100 100
BNB Printing Works AD (ref. note 24) 95.6 95.6

The net income from subsidiaries for the period comprises net profit of BGN 784 thousand
from the State Mint EOOD (31 December 2007: BGN 1000 thousand) and BGN 1311 thou-
sand from the BNB Printing Works AD (31 December 2007: BGN 3252 thousand).
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28. Commitments and contingencies

1) Participation in the Bank for International Settlements

The Bank holds 8000 shares of the capital of BIS, Basel, each amounting to SDR 5000.
Twenty-five per cent of the equity investment in BIS, Basel is paid up. The capital sub-
scribed but not paid in is with an option to be paid in within three months following a deci-
sion of the BIS Board of Governors. The contingent amount as at 30 June 2008 is
BGN 60,804 thousand (31 December 2007: BGN 63,039 thousand).

2) IMF quota and borrowings

The IMF quota and borrowings are supported by promissory notes jointly signed by the
Bank and the Government of the Republic of Bulgaria amounting to BGN 977,991 thou-
sand.

3) Capital commitments

As at 30 June 2008 the Bank has committed BGN 26,309 thousand to purchase non-cur-
rent assets (31 December 2007: BGN 27,924 thousand).

4) Other commitments and liabilities

There are no other outstanding guarantees, letters of credit or commitments to purchase
or sell either gold, other precious metals or foreign currency.

29. Events subsequent to the balance sheet date
There are no events subsequent to the balance sheet date of such a nature that they
would require additional disclosures or adjustments to the consolidated financial state-
ments.
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24 January As of 21 February 2008 the BNB put into circulation a silver commemorative coin ‘130 Years
from the Liberation of Bulgaria’ with a nominal value of BGN 10, issue 2008.

6 February Updated selling prices of banknotes and coins sold by the BNB at prices other than nominal
value were approved.

12 February As of April 2008 the BNB will cease processing banknotes and coins at a value announced in
the BNB regional cash centres in Pleven, Plovdiv and Varna. Processing activities will be
undertaken by the territorial units of the Cash Services Company AD.

15 February Ordinance on Amendment of Ordinance No 3 of 2005 on Funds Transfers and Payment
Systems was adopted.

25 March As of 21 April 2008 the BNB will put into circulation a silver commemorative coin ‘Shooting
Sports’ with a nominal value of BGN 10, issue 2008.

3 April Ordinance No 9 on the Evaluation and Classification of Risk Exposures of Banks and the
Allocation of Provisions to Cover Credit Risk was adopted.

Ordinance on Amendment of BNB Ordinance No 8 of 2006 on the Capital Adequacy of Banks
was adopted.

The Report on the Implementation of the BNB budget as at 31 December 2007 was approved.

23 April The BNB Annual Report for 2007 was approved.

As of 19 May 2008 the Bulgarian National Bank put into circulation a partially gold-plated silver
commemorative coin ‘Sevt III’, the Treasures of Bulgaria series.

Amendments to the Internal Rules for Selecting of and Working with BNB Scholarship Students
were approved by the BNB Governing Council on 12 October 2006.

22 May A decision to launch the Core Banking Information System was taken as from 1 June 2008.

5 June A decision was taken to issue a silver commemorative coin ‘100th Anniversary of the Proclama-
tion of Bulgaria’s Independence’ with a nominal value of BGN 10, issue 2008.

Major Resolutions of the BNB Governing Council
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